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                                                                           The CIA and the Politics of Narcotics                                                                                                                        


                                               Operations in Vietnam continued until the fall of Saigon in April 1975. 

The C.I.A. operation, from 1961 until 1975, became known as the Secret War because, unlike in Vietnam, America’s military involvement in Laos was covert. Instead of sending American ground troops to prevent a Communist takeover here, the C.I.A. hired tens of thousands of mercenaries, most of whom were Hmong, a hill-dwelling ethnic minority.
It is stated that 30,000 Hmong were killed in the War.  

During the Vietnam War, the Kennedy Administration identified the Hmong as an independent people who valued their freedom and heritage, enough to become potential United States allies.  According to the Geneva Convention of 1952, Laos is a neutral country.  This meant the US could not have any military presence on Laotian soil and were dependent upon aerial attacks on the North Vietnamese.  Furthermore, the primary route from which the communists in South Vietnam received their supplies passed through Laos.  By gaining the help of the Hmong, the US was able to alleviate the situation in the south.  With the threat of communism spreading into Laos and Cambodia from North Vietnam, the CIA-recruited Hmong fought bravely on the Laotian front.  Proud, strong, and willing to preserve their ethnic and cultural identity, they were an indispensible power and provided assistance to the US military in the war against the communists  
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                                                                                                        General Vang Pao and Fred Sass, CIA Advisor, in 1960
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                                                                              Members of the CIA's Hmong Secret Arm in Laos, circa 1965 
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                                                                                             Hmong Soldiers with General Vang Pao Laos
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                                                                               Hmong Soldiers Laos

                                                         Air America Huey’s sitting on Macv pad in Hue 1968
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                    Air America was an American passenger and cargo airline covertly owned and operated by the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA).                         It supplied and supported covert operations in Southeast Asia during the Vietnam War Organization

  Organization: In 1950, the parent company of Air America's forerunner, Civil Air Transport (CAT), was reorganized. The owner,                   Claire Lee Chennault, was approached by the CIA, who bought out the company through the American Airdale Corporation, a holding company based in Delaware. Under this agreement, CAT was allowed to keep its initials and the company reorganized as Civil Air Transport, Inc.


On 7 October 1957, the American Airdale was reorganized to add another layer of obfuscation to hide its owner. The new Pacific Corporation became a holding company for Air Asia Company, Ltd; Air America, Inc; Civil Air Transport, Inc; Southern Air Transport; Intermountain Aviation; Bird and Sons (known as Bird Air); and Robinson Brothers. CAT attempted to change its name to Air America at the same time, but objections from Air France and delayed the American Airlines name change for two years.


Air America's slogan was Anything, Anywhere, Anytime, Professionally. This was not an exaggeration as Air America aircraft flew many types of cargo to countries such as South Vietnam, Laos, and Cambodia. It operated from bases in these countries and also from bases in Thailand and as far away as Taiwan and Japan.           It also on occasion flew top-secret missions into Myanmar and China.

Vietnam War   From 1959 to 1962 the airline provided direct and indirect support to Operations Ambidextrous, Hotfoot, and White Star, which trained the regular Laos armed forces.


From 1962 to 1975, Air America inserted and extracted US personnel, provided logistical support to the Secret Army, transported refugees, and flew photo reconnaissance missions that provided valuable intelligence on enemy activities. Its civilian-marked craft were frequently used, under the control of the Seventh/Thirteenth Air Force to launch search and rescue missions for US pilots downed in Indochina. Air America pilots were the only known private US corporation employees to operate non-Federal Aviation Administration certified military aircraft in a combat role, although many of them were actually military personnel who had been transferred to the airline. By the summer of 1970, the airline had some two dozen twin-engine transport aircraft, another two dozen short-take off-and-landing aircraft, and 30 helicopters dedicated to operations in Burma, Cambodia, Thailand, and Laos. There were more than 300 pilots, copilots, flight mechanics, and airfreight specialists based in Laos and Thailand. During 1970, Air America delivered 46 million pounds (20,000 t) of food in Laos. Helicopter flight time reached more than 4,000 hours a month in the same year.


Air America flew civilians, diplomats, spies, refugees, commandos, sabotage teams, doctors, war casualties, drug enforcement officers, and even visiting VIPs like Richard Nixon all over South East Asia. Its non-human passengers were even more bizarre on occasion; part of the CIA's support operations in Laos, for instance, involved logistical support for local tribes fighting the North-Vietnamese forces and the Pathet Lao, their local opponents. The war created a disruption in the local food chain, so thousands of tons of food had to be flown in, including live chickens, pigs, and cattle. On top of the food drops (known as 'rice drops') came the logistical demands for the war itself, and Air America pilots flew thousands of flights transporting and airdropping ammunition and weapons to 'friendly' forces.


Flying for Air America was hazardous and the pay was better than for both normal civilian and military aviation. An AA pilot could earn as much in a week as another pilot would in a month, and the pay combined with the promise of adventure attracted many pilots. But the work was dangerous; even without conflict, pilots had to deal with poorly charted mountainous terrain, few radio beacons for navigation, bad weather, and often overloaded planes. Helicopter pilots had to deal with high altitude flights into mountains in tropical heat, which diminished the lift the rotors could give, and it took a great deal of 'unconventional' flying to get the job done. The conflict itself created an even more dangerous environment, and AA pilots flew missions that no military pilot would dare,


coming under fire almost on a daily basis. Many AA pilots were shot down, sometimes multiple times over the course of the war.


According to The Politics of Heroin in Southeast Asia, a 1972 study by historian Alfred W. McCoy Air America transported opium and heroin on behalf of Hmong leader Vang Pao.  However, William M. Leary Professor of History at the University of Georgia claims that his two decades of research uncovered no evidence that Air America was involved with the drug trade. Some pilots of Air America believed that it was possible that Air America could have carried drugs, but as the airline believed in a 'you call, we haul' philosophy, if drugs were carried, it was without the knowledge of the airline or pilots.  


When North Vietnamese forces overran South Vietnam in 1975, Air America helicopters evacuated the embassy in Saigon. The photo that most people relate as the end of the US involvement in the Vietnam War, showing a white helicopter taking people off of the CIA apartment building, was actually an Air America aircraft.
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When North Vietnamese forces overran South Vietnam in 1975, Air America helicopters evacuated the embassy in Saigon. The photo above that most people relate to as the end of the US involvement in the Vietnam war, showing a white helicopter taking people off of the CIA apartment building,  Roof top of 22 Gia Long Street, NOTE: it was not the U.S. Embassy. The chopper was actually an Air America aircraft. Vietnam civilians try to board Air America helicopter on the apartment rooftop in Saigon, April 29, 1975. This is perhaps the most famous image from the Fall of Saigon It was taken by Hubert van Es, a Dutch photographer working for United Press International. The building in the photo is frequently referred to as the US Embassy, but in fact is an apartment building several blocks away that was one of several pick-up points for the American evacuation   


            After the War: After pulling out of Vietnam in 1975, there was an attempt to keep a company presence in Thailand; after this fell through,                    Air America officially disbanded on June 30, 1976                                                                                             

  An Interview with Alfred McCoy        


                                                     By David Barsamian


Conducted at University of Wisconsin-Madison, February 17, 1990 





Alfred W. McCoy is professor of Southeast Asian History at the University of Wisconsin, Madison. Educated at Columbia and Yale, he has spent the past twenty years writing about Southeast Asian history and politics. 


This is interview with Alfred McCoy took place while McCoy was steeped in research for, and writing his second book, The Politics of Heroin; CIA Complicity in the Global Drug Trade. The interview is conversational and speculative, and as McCoy points out in the interview, one must be very precise & specific about what one writes in order to be taken seriously. Nevertheless, McCoy's speculations are dynamite and make this interview worth reading. 


Part One


Barsamian: This is David Barsamian and my guest is Alfred McCoy, author of "The Politics of Heroin in Southeast Asia" and "Drug Traffic: Narcotics and Organized Crime in Australia". Alfred McCoy is Professor of History at the University of Wisconsin at Madison. 


In your book, The Politics of Heroin in Southeast Asia, you demarcate very carefully that the United States was poised at the end of World War II, in 1945, to... I don't have your exact words ... to terminate the problem of drug addiction in the United States and it could have done so but for forces that I'd like you to discuss - was unable to do so. 


McCoy: The problem with America's failed chance at essentially reducing if not eliminating drugs as a problem was a contradiction between the needs of domestic policy and the national security state. After World War II the United States became a global power and set up a number of agencies to exercise this global power, most importantly the executive agency known as the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency when it was ultimately formed in 1948. The CIA, in order to conduct its campaign against communism, which was seen as an overweening evil that had to be stopped, was willing to ally with anybody and everybody that could provide during what was seen as a critical period, some strength, some support in the global struggle against communism. 


In Europe and Asia the CIA allied themselves with major drug brokers and organized crime syndicates. In sum, what they did was to create a mainline flow of narcotics from the Middle East through Europe to the United States which dominated America's drug markets until the 1960s. At the same time, the CIA was forging alliances and protecting the traffickers in Europe, for reasons of intelligence. They also formed similar alliances in Asia - alliances which were actually deeper and had much more profound and lasting impact on the Asian drug trade. 


As the European trade began to diminish in the late 1960s and early 1970s, the second stream, the flow of Asian drug traffic came into the United States and supplanted the old Turkey- Marseilles heroin connection. But, ultimately, when you look at the source of supply and the politics that provided drugs to America in the post-war era, you came down to this contradiction between the weak drug policy and same kind of vague commitment to doing something about drugs versus a very high profile, very important effort to contain communism globally. In this balance between an inarticulated, poorly formed narcotics policy and a very clear national goal of containing communism, narcotics policy was barely considered. 


The CIA in this era was dealing with governments, intelligence chiefs, warlords, gangsters, traffickers of all sorts - good character was not considered of moment. The only thing that counted during the period from the late 1940s through the late 1960s was containing communism. 


Barsamian: You trace the involvement of the Mafia - the U.S. Mafia - in the promotion of narcotics trafficking in the United States. How did the politics get involved with the Mafia? 


McCoy: We have to step back a bit to the origin of the drug problem. Since the 1800s western societies - Europe, Australia, and America - have had very extensive drug problems. Now, you can really divide the western world's century of mass drug abuse into two convenient periods. From the late 1800s to the present we can split it down the middle. From about the 1870s when you get big-time mass consumption of narcotics to the 1920s drugs were legal. The name "heroin" for example, was a trade name coined by the Bayer company. In 1898 they came up with a new product which seemed to be very good for respiratory ailments. They put it on the market and called it "heroin." That's where the term comes from. It's a trade name coined by one of the world's major pharmaceutical manufacturers. 


The next year, 1899, they came up with another nifty new product that seemed to do the same thing for headaches that heroin did for respiratory ailments. They called the new product "aspirin." That one's worked out pretty well. So we got one winner and one loser during this same period of the global boom of pharmaceuticals. 


It wasn't until the 1920s that there was a general consensus that law would be used to regulate personal behavior. So alcohol, gambling and narcotics were, during the 1920s, globally subject to regulation. So you have laws on the books in the United Kingdom, Australia, the United States - not only the nations themselves but their several states and provinces - banning the use of narcotics. 


Narcotics moved from being a personal choice - something you picked up at your local pharmacy, your local drug store - to being a criminal act. The process by which it becomes illegal varied in every country and, in some cases every state. By the time you get to about 1930, drugs were illegal around the globe. 


So, suddenly, who's moving the drugs? Well, it's syndicates. The abolition or the prohibition of alcohol, partial prohibition of alcohol in some countries and full prohibition in this country, combined with the prohibition of narcotics, transferred an enormous sector of the legitimate economy to syndicates. So that's where you got the rise of organized crime. 


In 1932 the United States pulled back from the prohibition on alcohol It was gradual, it was slow, but the syndicates got out of the alcohol trade. But we've never pulled back from the prohibition of narcotics. It's remained illegal. That prohibition has become permanent. So, during the 1930s. the syndicates began moving into narcotics. They were of secondary importance initially to alcohol, but once alcohol became legal after 1932, narcotics became correspondingly more important. 


During World War II things changed. All global commerce was disrupted. Military controls and war zones intervened with the normal trafficking routes. The drug trade was totally disrupted in the United States. In Asia it continued. The Japanese military intelligence dominated the manufacture and distribution of heroin from China. They used it very explicitly as a weapon against the Chinese resistance. They flooded China with heroin, financed all of their intelligence operations and special operations from the drug trade. 


But in the United States and Europe, the drug traffic was disrupted. It largely disappeared. Survival had to do with, in part, some short-term tactical alliances with the Mafia. In 1943 the United States invaded Sicily as one of its two major invasions of Europe, a major event in the history of World War II, secondary to D-Day. That leap from North Africa and fighting up the boot of Italy, bloody horrible campaign that it was, was something that really concerned American military planners at the time. They apparently - the U.S. Navy in particular - forged a short-term political alliance with Lucky Luciano who'd been convicted for operating a brothel that employed something like a thousand prostitutes in New York City; he was in Dannemara State Prison in New York. The Navy cut a deal with him and he used his contacts with the Sicilian Mafia to get Mafia support because the Mafia politically dominated western Sicily which was the area where U.S. forces landed. 


Mussolini, for reasons just purely of state, couldn't abide the Mafia. They didn't do what he wanted. He tried to break them. Under the U.S. military occupation of Sicily, the Mafia revived. There were some American Mafiosi deported to Sicily after the war. They provided links back to the United States with their confreres in organized crime. Moreover, as the United States' campaign against communism got underway, particularly in the Mediterranean basin - in Italy and southern France - the United States formed tactical alliances with Corsican syndicates and with the Mafia too. It served as a counterweight to communist dock worker influence in places like Marseilles particularly. 


The net result is that as a result of wartime policy and postwar anti-communist policy, you got a revival of organized crime operating initially under some kind of U.S. military-government protection and ultimately under CIA protection. 


As the trafficking routes got re-established through the Middle East and Europe, ultimately to the United States, a revived, restored Mafia in Sicily, Corsican syndicates in Southern France, were major participants in this traffic. 


Half a world away, in Asia, you get a similar phenomenon. We can talk about that if you want. 


Barsamian: In fact, the re colonization of Indochina by the French at the end of World War II in 1946 led to what you call the first Indochina war, and the establishment of a major international narcotics trade which the French intelligence was very much involved with. Is that true? 


McCoy: Yes, but again I think we have to stand back and look at this in somewhat broader perspective. It's one of the liabilities of being a history professor - I can't understand 1990 unless I know about 1890. It's just the way I see things. Things have historical roots and if you deal with present superficialities you won't have a clue as to what's going on. 


You have to understand, first of all, that the extensive opium trade in Indochina - mass consumption, particularly in the cities - was as a result of European colonial policy. Nowhere else in the world - and most of the tropical latitudes of the globe were colonized - Asia, Africa and Latin America at one time, entirely colonized. 


It's only in Southeast Asia that the colonial governments paid for their very dynamic development, massive infrastructural projects, irrigation that transformed the landscape, massive road networks, rail networks, very dynamic colonial development - all of this was paid for by direct taxes upon Indochinese consumers. Taxes on alcohol, salt and particularly opium. In British Malaya, 40% of colonial taxes came from opium. In Thailand it was running about 15%. (Thailand was an independent state but they followed the colonial model.) In French Indochina it ranged about 15% from the period of the 1870s up through the 1950s when, as a result of UN pressure, all of these governments abolished the opium trade. Thailand was the second last to do it. Thailand didn't abolish its state opium monopoly - rather like an alcoholic beverage control that a lot of states have. They didn't abolish this until 1957 and Laos didn't abolish theirs until 1961. 


So you had then, mass opium consumption in Southeast Asia as a result of this colonial policy of making the colony pay with opium. That was the policy. 


Now, most of the opium was not produced in Southeast Asia. It came from abroad - either Southern China or, particularly, India. The thing that changes significantly after World War II is not the emergence of Southeast Asia as a major area of opiate consumption - it had been so for a century or even more. What is significant is the emergence of the mountain areas of Southeast Asia as major areas of global opium production. Indeed, by the early 1960s, the largest single source of opium anywhere in the world was the so-called "Golden Triangle" region of Southeast Asia. 


How did this come about? It comes about two ways. Most importantly, we have to look at North Burma. That's the bulk of the Golden Triangle. In fact, most of that imaginary geographical construct penned by some unknown journalist wag or geographer - nobody knows where this idea came from calling this sort of triangular-shaped highland zone where opium is grown in Southeast Asia "the Golden Triangle" - most of that triangle is in Burma, northeastern Burma in particular. 


So, where did opium come from? Well, if you look at the British colonial records, because the British colonized Burma, you find opium production up until 1945 in northeastern Burma was almost insignificant. There was very little grown. Most of the opium consumption in northeastern Burma came from India. Burma, after all, was a province of India under the British, so they just brought it in and sold it legally. Now, where the opium came from was a major CIA operation. One of the biggest - the only one I know of its scale that is yet to be exposed by journalists or muckrakers of any sort. This was the attempt to overthrow the People's Republic of China. 


In 1949 the Red Army, Mao's Red Army, drove south and they drove the Nationalist forces of Chiang Kai-Shek in two directions: one down to Taiwan to the East and secondly, into this redoubt, this highland plateau which is the Hunan province in southwestern China. The warlord of Hunan surprisingly surrendered, betrayed Chiang Kai-Shek, and surrendered to the communists. Chiang Kai-Shek's plan of having his old World War II redoubt which was the bastion of his resistance against the Japanese. This was Chiang Kai-Shek's old mountain bastion. He thought he could hold it and maybe use it for counter-attack. Well, the warlord of Hunan betrayed him for reasons nobody quite understands, turned it over to the communists, and Chiang's forces were suddenly without a redoubt. They fled across the border into the mountains of northeastern Burma, where the CIA set up a massive support operation, including an air link that was of the nature of the hump - the flight from India across the hump of the Himalayas into the Hunan province of southern China during World War II. They also rearranged the politics of Thailand. The CIA became involved in the factional politics among the military leadership in Thailand. They allied themselves with the commandant of the Thai national police, a particularly corrupt man named General Pao. General Pao went into the opium business with the nationalist Chinese forces in Laos. 


What you had was the CIA sustaining nationalist Chinese forces in Northeastern Burma on the China border, supporting - we have records I think of two invasions of southern China by this force which left, in a couple of battles, dead white men on the field of battle. One can only suspect that they were CIA operatives or contract mercenaries working for the Agency, We don't know. No identification. 


But anyway, these invasions failed. So why didn't they withdraw? Well, the CIA had the idea - and you can find these in formal National Security Council documents - the CIA and the Pentagon had the idea that there was going to be a massive Chinese invasion of Southeast Asia at some point. This was what the Vietnam war was all about: building up the South Vietnamese Army, to integrate, to become an Allied force within the U.S. conventional combat forces, to resist this projected Chinese invasion of Southeast Asia. The falling dominoes were not just going to fall from within, they were going to be pushed from without by an invading China. 


So they kept the Nationalist Chinese forces up along this long difficult Burma border as a kind of trip-wire to detect a Chinese invasion of Southeast Asia and to run intelligence operations. 

They went into China, kidnapped Chinese officials, tapped phone lines, and bought newspapers - and they were maintained in northeastern Burma from 1949 until 1961 when a joint Communist Chinese-Burmese Army operation drove them into northern Thailand which is where they are today. But they still maintained their posts, even though they couldn't keep their base camps in Burma. That group, the Nationalist Chinese forces in northeastern Burma, transferred northeastern Burma from a region of very little opium production into the largest single producer of opium anywhere in the world today. 


How did they do it? They did it through the classic colonial policy that we saw under Leopold of the Belgians in the Congo Free State. Under Leopold every peasant had to grow rubber and if you didn't deliver rubber, your children's limbs were amputated. I can show you a very famous photograph in a book published by Macmillan University Press, The Colonial Empires by Professor B.K. Hildhouse (?) and there's a picture of an African man sitting on his porch looking at the feet of his daughter which had been amputated because he didn't deliver the rubber. It was such a brutal, horrific administration that the European colonial powers held a conference, took the Congo away from Leopold, and gave it to the Belgian parliament to administer. It was one of the great scandals of the 19th century, one of the horrors of colonialism. That great novel, Heart of Darkness, that became Apocalypse Now - that's written about the brutality of the Belgians in the Congo Free State. 


There are many legacies in the European imagination of how horrible this was. Well, that's exactly what the Nationalist Chinese forces did to the Hill tribes of northeastern Burma. I've interviewed American Baptists missionaries who told me that ordinary peasants - hill tribesmen - who did not deliver their opium quota, suffered the loss of limbs. Fingers would be cut and hands were taken from you and your family. 


So people produced. 
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Part Two


Under this forced regime of occupation where you had the Nationalist Chinese forces backed by the CIA occupying the mountain areas, the prime opium growing areas in northeastern Burma, Burma went from maybe 7 or 8 tons of opium production per annum to anywhere up to 1,000 tons of production by the time the CIA's mercenaries were driven out in 1961. A thousand tons would have been, in any given year, up to 60 and 70% of the world's total illicit opium production coming from this one area as a result of a decade of CIA-Nationalist Chinese occupation. 


The other Southeast Asian area was as you describe. Until 1950 France had an opium monopoly in Indochina. They were under pressure from the United States and UN to clean up. They signed the Segal(?) Convention on Narcotic Drugs with the United Nations and they abolished the opium monopoly. But it didn't disappear. The opium dens and opium shops were simply transferred from the French Ministry of Finance to French military intelligence and they, in turn, turned them over to a criminal syndicate that was running Saigon for the French, using their funds to buy daily intelligence and ferret out communist terrorists in the streets of Saigon. 


The communists were running a terrorist campaign against the French. A Frenchman would sit down in a cafe and a 12-year-old boy would come up to him and put a gun to the back of his head and shoot him and disappear into a crowd. That's the kind of operation. The French were powerless to control that and they set up a very elaborate intelligence apparatus to try and stop that terror. Money was the fuel that drove that engine and the money came from drugs. 


Moreover, there were Corsican syndicates that dominated the inner-city economy of Indochina, based in Saigon. They began exporting to Europe where part of the so-called Marseilles connection which has been celebrated in films - the connection where it's supposed to be opium from Turkey coming through the laboratories of Marseilles and then on to the United States - part of that production - we don't know how much - in fact, came from Saigon. 


So, it's as a result of French counter-insurgency efforts in Indochina where they integrate narcotics into their intelligence operations,                                                     but primarily it's as a result of CIA operations in Burma that we get the so-called Golden Triangle where it's northeastern Burma and the adjacent area of northern Laos going into high-scale production. 


When the Americans moved into Indochina after the French departed in 1955, we picked up the same tribes, the Hmong, the same politics of narcotics, the politics of heroin, that the French had established. By the 1960s we were operating, particularly the CIA, in collusion with the major traffickers exporting from the mountains not only to meet the consumption needs of Southeast Asia itself, but in the first instance America's combat forces fighting in Vietnam and ultimately the world market.  

Southeast Asia today, by the way, is the number one source of American heroin. That's our major source. So it's those very mountains of Burma, those very fields that were cleared and put to the poppy as a result of this Nationalist Chinese-CIA counterinsurgency intervention policy - that army that the CIA maintained there - that's supplying America's addicts today with illicit heroin. 


Barsamian: Was the anti-communist ideology so powerful and so strong that the CIA would risk the worldwide opprobrium of being linked with drug trafficking? Why would they take that risk? 


McCoy: It's easy. Look, it's effective. I interviewed a guy named Lt. Col Lucien Conein who, since I published my book now despises me, and I asked Col Conein why they worked with the Corsicans in Saigon, for example. He said that there aren't very many groups that know the clandestine arts. When you think about the essential skills it takes to have an extra-legal operation - to have somebody killed, to mobilize a crowd, to do what it does when societies are in flux, when power is unclear and to be grabbed and shaped and molded into a new state - you want to overthrow a government and put a new one in - how do you do it? Who does this? Accountants? - They go to the office every day. Students? They go to classes - they're good for maybe one riot or something, but they've got to get on to medical school or law or whatever they're doing. Where do you get people who have this kind of skill? You have your own operatives and they're limited. Particularly if you're a foreigner, your capacity to move something in the streets is very limited. You know, sometimes you can turn to a state intelligence agency in a country you're working with, but most effectively you can turn to the underworld. That's why the CIA always worked very effectively with the warlords of the Golden Triangle. It's worked very effectively with Corsican syndicates in Europe, worked very effectively and continuously with American Mafia - because they have the same clandestine arts. They operate with the same techniques. 


And they have the same kind of amorality. They are natural allies. There was a conversion of cultures between the milieu of the underworld and the world of the clandestine operative. 


Barsamian: The French intelligence services used the services of the Corsican Mafia during the first Indochina war and many of those Corsicans remained behind and the Americans picked them up. But then you have the introduction of the American Mafia itself with the full-scale American intervention in Indochina: people like Santo Trafficante getting involved. 


McCoy: I was interested in discovering during the course of my research in Saigon in 1971 that the last of the founding generation of the Mafia - I read these Mafia histories and I wonder if they're accurate, but you know, if you read enough of them and they're talking about the formation of a Commission, the big five families getting together and setting this thing up - but sometimes you wonder if it isn't a fairy tale but everybody keeps repeating it. So let's just assume as kind of a footnote that this may not be accurate. But let's assume this is some kind of story that's accurate. The last of the founding generation of Mafia titans was Santo Trafficante, Jr. He was the boss of Tampa. He also ran Cuba for the Mafia. Cuba was one of the major conduits of Marseilles heroin. The raw opium would come from Indochina through the Suez Canal, across the Mediterranean to Marseilles - or it would come through Turkey, down through Lebanon, then across the Mediterranean to the port of Marseilles. There it was refined and it would enter the United States. 


Back in 1950, because of the very substantial Mafia presence in Cuba - they owned most of the casinos, they operated a lot of the prostitution industry and they were on good terms with the Batista dictatorship. It was their major offshore operating zone. It was a kind of vice free port. Santo Trafficante is believed to have been heavily involved in narcotics importation operations in a general kind of way as somebody who was very heavily involved in Cuba. Cuba was supposed to be - again, in these Mafia fairy tales - something of a neutral zone. It was nobody's territory. But Trafficante kind of ran it, providing a certain amount of protection and order for organized crime because he was southern Florida and it was a natural territory for him to expand into.

          Dominic Furchi and Santo Trafficante and Furchi's kid, Frank Furchi.

Well, in the late 1960s, Trafficante and his consigliore, his counselor - again, in these Mafia charts, the number three man was a guy named Dominic Furchi(?). Dominic Furchi and Santo Trafficante took a trip and went to Hong Kong and they went to Saigon. When they were in Saigon they met with old man Furchi's kid, Frank Furchi. Now, Frank Furchi had set himself up in Saigon and was involved in this shady world of contracting all of these kinds of murky private business operations that were what you might call black marketeering on the fringes of this massive U.S. war effort. Wherever you get armies operating in the midst of war zones you get an enormous amount of black market activity. Prostitution, clubs, entertainment, purloining of military equipment - you know, there's just so much men and movement and violence and such a risk that freelancers would come in there and wheel and deal and make money. 


This young Furchi was in there. There was a group of Corsicans that was still operating left over from the first Indochina war and they were dealing. Some of them were Ex-Nazi Gestapo officers that had come out there as well. It was a remarkable polyglot group of adventurers. Trafficante is believed, according to Hong Kong police intelligence, to have explored getting an Asian heroin connection. Some police I talked to during this period were convinced that, in fact, he did provide the basic contacts and connections during his trip which began to see the start of substantial flows of heroin from Southeast Asia to the United States. Now, whether or not, again, this is a Mafia fairy tale, nonetheless statistically it is after about 1970 that we see the flow of Number 4 pure white powder heroin moving from Southeast Asia to the United States, being detected in chemical analysis of street samples. 


Barsamian: One thing that has kind of perplexed me on this particular issue - you know, the CIA being involved in drug trafficking in Southeast Asia - very soon we see that heroin flowing into the veins of the American GIs stationed in Southeast Asia who are reputedly there to defeat the communists. That's kind of bizarre to say the least. 


McCoy: When I published my book I got a lot of flak from people on the left saying that I was probably a CIA agent because I was so moderate in my analysis. The thesis in the heated political times of the early 1970s about drugs was this. The CIA had two problems - or the American ruling class - whoever these invisibles are that control this complex uncontrollable country - supposedly had two problems. One was insurgency of minorities 


I'm speaking of black uprisings in the cities of America. Another was winning the war in Vietnam. So they put one and one together and they came up with two: the Southeast Asian drug trade. Their vision was - you know, like the CIA Deputy Director in charge of global narcotics trafficking sort of telling the Hmong caravans to get moving out of the highlands of Southeast Asia. "Let's get that caravan now into the lab. Okay, let's get that heroin loaded onto the aircraft right. Okay, now we've got it into Harlem. Okay, get that kid, Kid, step forward and buy the bag." Okay, you know that's it. Potentially insurgent youth has been narcotized. Write him off for black power. 


I didn't see things operating quite so comprehensively. What I saw going on was like this. And this is why I was accused by people on the left of being moderate and cowardly in my analysis. When you do this kind of research, when you move into this murky world of rumors, conspiracy, the shadow universe that is organized crime, narcotics and intelligence, you've got to adopt, I think, a minimalist approach. You can't say anything you don't have a source for. You can suspect all you want. But when you speak or write, you just don't say it. That's speculation. You have a drink and you talk it over when you're working with your colleagues trying to figure it out, then you can go into anything you want. But when you actually speak or write, you've got to stick to the facts. Otherwise, you're not doing your job ... it’s nonsense. So I adopted a policy that I had to have sources. In fact, my book when it was published was gone over by a corporate lawyer at Harper & Row which is a big publishing firm. The CIA actually got a copy of the manuscript and tried to get certain passages deleted and removed. They pressured the corporation for the right to do that. Ultimately I had to stand behind every sentence. I had to have sources for it. The lawyers went through every sentence and said, "Where's this?" I had to have an interview notebook; I had to show my logic. 


What I found was this. This is my image. In effect the CIA's involvement in narcotics was originally specific. It was going on in Laos and it didn't get much beyond Laos. The Agency in Laos was, just like the agency globally in the 1940s and 50s, myopic, short-sighted. It was fighting a war. It was trying to stop the Ho Chi Minh trail from operating. 

In order to do so it had a 30,000 man mercenary army made up largely of Hmong hill tribesmen who lived in the area and were opium growers. The consequences of their complicity in the narcotics traffic was something they just weren't interested in. From 1964-65 to 1975 they ran this secret war with a massive army of 30,000 men - an operation of an unequaled duration and size. The CIA has never, ever run as big an operation. I think that's even bigger than the Burma operation they ran. The Nationalist Chinese forces never got to that size. 


Barsamian: What about Afghanistan? 


McCoy: That didn't last eleven years. When did it start? About '81 and it's already over. It didn't make it. It lasted eight years. I don't think also. You see, the Mujahadin are not as integrated with the CIA. Those were just rebels that the CIA was backing. This is a 30,000 man army that the CIA ran. It was their army. They bought every bullet, they trained every soldier, and they had a mercenary officer corps under General Vang Pao that they ran. It wasn't a "hands-off' operation. It was their army. That's why we've got all these Hmong in Los Angeles and Minnesota and Wisconsin because we're looking after our loyal tribe that fought and died for us in some kind of twisted logic. But that's why they're all here. That's why we have all these mountain peasants trying to adapt to life in this country. 


Anyway, the CIA was complicitous in the Laotian drug trade at a number of levels. First of all, let's look at the situation. Why would the CIA be complicitous in the drug trade? Okay. They are allying themselves with a people who grow two products up in the mountains: they grow rice for subsistence and they grow opium for cash. They've grown opium really at a high level since World War II. They grew small amounts before, but with the boom in production in the Golden Triangle their production of opium expanded and they became dependent upon it as a source for cash. 


When the CIA allied itself with this tribe, after a few years, by 1970, the economy, the culture, the whole of Hmong tribal society and the CIA's secret army were one. It was a total merger. It was as much an alliance between the CIA and the Hmong as it was between the United States and Great Britain in World War II. We just didn't give the British bullets, we financed their whole economy. We integrated our economy, our polity with Britain. Two societies, two states merged. 


Well, in a funny kind of way, that's what's going on in Laos right now. The rice crop disappears because of the Meo policy of slash and burn - they chop down the trees, they burn it, that clears the land and leaves ash and phosphate on the ground and you get maybe two or three rice crops out of it before the land goes bad and the men, because there's a distribution of labor in the tribes, the men have to cut down the trees. The women till the crop, harvest the rice crop. Now, opium, well done, can go ten or twelve years whereas rice can only go two or three. So once it was started, very quickly the Hmong ran out of rice and the CIA began dropping rice to them. But they still had their opium. Now, the Hmong growing opium meant the CIA felt that they had to support the Meo's opium crop because there are only two cash crops. So they started actually using their remarkably extensive energetic network of light aircraft and helicopters to actually move the opium out of the mountains for the Meo because the war had disrupted the normal caravan routes of Chinese merchants that comb the hills for the opium. That was gone by 1966 as the war spread. So the CIA collected the opium and became the major source of transport, moving the opium from field to market, getting into the actual flow of regional international commerce. 


Barsamian: This is the Air America fleet? 


McCoy: This is the Air America fleet, yeah. It's the CIA's contract airline. It's just a fig leaf. It was the CIA's airline. 


Barsamian: I notice you use Hmong and Meo interchangeably. Is that correct? 


: Yes. The word has been used traditionally, Hmong, but it means slave in Chinese. But if you look at all the ethnographic literature before the Hmong migrated to this country, it always refers to them as Meo. Since they've gotten here, the Hmong have regarded Meo as an impolite term and everybody... You know, one of the dynamics of a multi-cultural society is that the group gets to pick its own name. If African-Americans want to be African-Americans, that's what you call them and you don't worry about it. The oppressed get to pick the label of their oppression. So if the Hmongs want to be called Hmongs, we call them Hmong. 


Anyway, the CIA was absolutely aware of what it was doing. I went into a Meo district - I spent ten days there in 1971 - and I went house to house and asked every farmer how much opium they grew this year, last year, the year before. I went back ten years. I said, "Okay, now, how much do you grow." They said, "Well, we each grow about ten kilos," which will make you one kilo of heroin by the time you boil it down and combine it." Most of them grow about ten kilos from their fields. So, "What do you do with your ten kilos?" "Well, up to about five years the Chinese used to come through with their mules and we'd sell it to them and they'd give us some cloth, some money, this or that and flashlight batteries, whatever, and we'd deal with them. Or sometimes we'd take it down to the market down in the provincial capital." "So what have you done over the last few years?"                                                                                                                                                     "What happens is the Air America helicopter comes in and officers in the army, Hmong officers in the army, get out and we sell them our opium." 


Opium stinks. It's like wrapping up cow dung in leaves. You've got a whole helicopter full of cow dung and you'd say to the pilot, the American CIA pilot - do you know what you're carrying? He'd say, "Yeah, I'm carrying cow dung." "How do you know?" "Well, I can smell it." Opium, in that kind of confined space, load up a helicopter with opium and you know what you're carrying. Everybody knows what it smells like. So they all knew that they were carrying it. This entire district that I interviewed established a pattern beyond doubt. The helicopters came there and left. 


Where did it go? It went down to a place name (Long Tieng) in Laos-- Long Tien was one of the most secret U.S. installations anywhere in the world. It was the headquarters of the whole secret war in Laos, this attempt to fight the Ho Chi Minh trail, to cut it with this mercenary army. Long Tien was closed to any American other than somebody that had top intelligence classification.

                                                      [image: image9.jpg]



            

I learned from Hmong sources that Vang Pao operated a very large heroin lab there. At this point the CIA got hands off. They didn't mind moving the opium out of the hills, but when it came to actually carrying the (Number 4 heroin) that came out of that lab, they wouldn't touch that. What they did was they established a private air line for Vang Pao called Zeng Kwan(?) Air Transport, the province where he came from was Zeng Kwan. So they created, you know, home-town province airlines and gave it to Vang Pao. They were hands-off from that point. 

Then what happened was there was a flow, there were other labs, and the Chief of Staff of the Royal Laotian army - 99% of the Royal Laotian army's budget came from the United States - the Chief of Staff of the Laotian army operated the largest heroin refinery in the world in northwestern Laos. This flow of heroin went down to southern Laos where Nguyen Cao Ky's sister ran a hotel. There were three routes into Vietnam from southern Laos.  One was Nguyen Cao Ky's.- Pilots would fly over from Tan Son Nhut (?) Airport in Saigon and would pick up and fly back in. The Prime Minister of Vietnam, the President of Vietnam also had their own distribution apparatuses. Our allies in Vietnam, the three major political players, ran heroin distribution networks.  There was a time in the 1970s when I think half a dozen members of the South Vietnamese parliament were picked up by customs by mistake carrying heroin in from Laos and Thailand.

 You know, the whole South Vietnamese government was dealing heroin to our troops. That was where it was coming from. 
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The CIA didn't know about that. I mean, they didn't care about that; they didn't worry about it. Once it was out of the mountains and out of the labs they didn't think about it very much. Now, what's the legacy of Laos. Well, the legacy of Laos, I think, is something that nobody's really thought about. Let's look at it. For ten years the CIA's biggest operation was completely integrated with the structure of the Indochina opium trade. The capacity of that army to fight and move, the capacity of those people to survive and to keep replacing soldiers (because they were killed by the tens of thousands). We were fighting with boy soldiers by the time it was over. I mean, those soldiers had to keep delivering the troops. The whole apparatus was integrated with the opium trade, the whole secret war apparatus was part of the opium trade. We ran that war through Vang Pao. He was a general in the Laotian army, but more importantly, he was the CIA's general. Now, Vang Pao was not from a traditional elite family. He was never very popular with the Hmong, certainly not at that time. And his capacity to get recruits out of the villages once the war started taking heavy casualties and people were seeing one and two and three sons dying, his capacity to extract more and more recruits to keep that war going relied upon him being able to pressure those villages. 


I was in a village in Laos that stopped sending recruits and the CIA cut off the rice supply and those people were pushed to the brink of starvation. They had lost all the males down to the 14-year-olds. The village and district leader didn't want to send the 14-year-olds. "This is the next generation," he said. "If we lose these kids, then we will disappear. We won't produce another generation. We can't do this." And so he said no, we've been doing this for six or seven years now, we've lost everybody, we're not going to do it anymore. So they cut off his rice. 


The other thing that Vang Pao had was the opium. Remember, they had the two basic commodities - rice to survive and opium for cash to buy everything that they needed. So Vang Pao became the big opium broker for the Hmong and, as such, he gained extraordinary power over their economy and thus over their lives. So that by controlling those two products, opium and rice - the supply of rice and the export of opium from the villages - Vang Pao controlled those villages and could force them to support him even after the casualties began to mount. 


My metaphor for Vang Pao is kind of like a Judas Goat. Do you know what a Judas goat is? In the stockyards, I don't know if it's still done, but let's say when you're leading sheep to the slaughter, there's a goat that will lead the sheep through the maze of the stockyards and then, as they're heading into the chute, the Judas goat jumps aside and the flock of sheep go pelting through to get hit with electrodes or hammers and be slaughtered. That's how you have to think of Vang Pao - as kind of like a tribal Judas goat leading the males to the slaughter. Except, the Hmong are not like sheep - they know what's going on - they know that they're being slaughtered. It's not like they're being slaughtered in one room at one time - they're being slaughtered slowly over a decade. So how does he get to keep leading them? Through the control over these two products. 


You've got, then, a CIA secret war which in an essential way, in a fundamental way is linked with the opium traffic. More than that, it appears that a number of CIA operatives as individuals got involved. They started smuggling, started wheeling, started dealing and started doing a couple of bags here and there. We know, for example, there's a famous case of a CIA global money-moving bank called the Nugan-Hand bank which was established in Australia. The founder of that was a Michael John Hand. He was a green beret who was a contract CIA operative in Laos. When he first came to Australia in 1969-1970 Australian federal police got intelligence on him - I've seen the files - saying that what he's basically doing is he's bringing down light aircraft that are flying from Thailand to northern Australia into those abandoned air strips that were left over from World War II and he's dealing heroin. That's what Michael John Hand, according to Australian federal police intelligence, was doing. So, as individuals CIA operatives were getting involved and more or less what you've got then as a result of Laos is that the policy of integrating intelligence and cover operations with narcotics gets established. 


You get, then, an entire generation of covert action warriors used to dealing with narcotics as a matter of policy. In short, you get a policy and personnel which integrates covert action with narcotics. This manifests itself in a number of ways. First of all the Nugan-Hand bank. Not only was it moving money globally for the CIA, but it was the major money laundering conduit that was trimming funds up to Southeast Asia from Australia and linking the Golden Triangle heroin trade of Southeast Asia with the urban markets of Australia. In Afghanistan as well, this same distributing pattern that we saw in Laos emerges. 


This is one case that hasn't been well studied. I've spoken to one correspondent for the Far East Economic Review which is a Dow-Jones Publication, Mr. Lawrence Lifschultz(?), a friend of mine, and what he found was something of a similar pattern that I found in Laos. He was a correspondent in Pakistan and Afghanistan during the Mujahedeen campaign and he wrote articles in the Nation and elsewhere describing this similar pattern. You've got Pakistani government officials very heavily involved in narcotics, you've got the Mujahadeen manufacturing heroin, they're exporting it to Europe and the United States. They're using it to support their guerrilla campaign. the Pakistanis and the CIA are complicitous on the level of (1) not doing anything or (2) actually getting involved in the case of some of the Pakistani elite. So, it's a case where the Mujahadee operation becomes ultimately integrated with the narcotics trade and the CIA is fully informed of the integration and doesn't do anything about it. 


Moving on to our fourth instance, one close to home, is the whole Iran-contra operation. 


First of all, I think the Laos parallel is very strong in the Iran-contra operation. Just in the formal outlines of the policy - you know, you've got the contras on the border of Nicaragua, they're a mercenary army, they're supported through a humanitarian operation, they're given U.S. logistic support, they're given U.S. equipment and they're given U.S. air power backup to deliver the equipment and the logistic support. All the personnel that are involved in that operation are Laos veterans. Ted Shackley, Thomas Clines, Oliver North, Richard Secord - they all served in Laos during thirteen-year war. They are all part of that policy of integrating narcotics and being complicitous in the narcotics trade in the furtherance of covert action. 


In this case, what I think we can see is it's not just the same. It's not just simply that the CIA was complicitous in allowing the contras to deal in cocaine, to serve as a link between the Andes and across the Caribbean into the United States. I think we can see the situation has gotten worse. In Laos, as I said, the CIA was hands-off. Once it got beyond their secret base, they wouldn't touch it. They gave Vang Pao the aircraft and once it got any further they didn't really know about it and didn't want to know about it. They remained ignorant about it. And ultimately what you're looking at was a traffic that was in a remote region which, in a way I don't think the CIA saw was going to happen, wound up serving Americans. An estimate of 50% of U.S. combat forces in Vietnam taking drugs, that was common at that time. But it's still remote and it's still not going directly into the United States. 


The level of cynicism in Central America is even worse. We're not talking about original traffic or moving the raw product - we're talking about taking finished cocaine, providing aircraft, moreover providing protection for these traffickers as they fly across the Caribbean with these massive loads of cocaine. Now, I don't know. Can one estimate what percentage of the cocaine was politically protected by these intelligence operations. Until there's a formal investigation, which there's not likely to be, it's difficult to say. 


I think that one can say that as you look at the drugs flowing into the United States during the 1960s when this Lao operation was going, there was probably a much smaller percentage of narcotics entering the United States from politically protected brokers than there is today. In other words, this CIA policy of integrating covert action operations with narcotics, both at a level of individuals being involved and also just turning a blind eye to the fact that our allies are drug brokers, this complicity in the narcotics trade has gotten worse. It's closer to home. It's not moving the raw material out in the jungles; it's actually bringing the finished narcotics, cocaine, into the United States. So it's gotten that much closer to home and that much more cynical. 


Barsamian: Could you talk about the 1971 Nixon "War on Drugs" and the 1989 version of the same war launched by George Bush? Do you see any parallels? 


McCoy: The parallel is striking and I'm surprised that commentators haven't made more of it. My own feeling is that the Bush war on drugs is modeled exactly on the war fought by his mentor, President Bush's mentor, Richard Nixon. America has in its history of a century of drug abuse, attempted two times a solution to the drug problem. The first one was the Nixon war on drugs in 1972-73 and the second is now the Bush war on drugs. 


Let's look at the Nixon war on drugs in order to get some sense of the probable outcome of the Bush war. Nixon declared war on drugs in 1973 in the Anatolian plateau. There's a pretty good book by a man named Robert J. Epstein called Agency of Fear looking at the drug agency involved in this war on drugs. What he concluded was that Nixon was faced with a delicate political problem when he took office. He'd promised law and order. 


Once he got into office, Epstein says that he found out that the federal government's actual intervention in law enforcement in the United States is minimal. It's local police that do law enforcement. It's everybody's property taxes that put cops in their cars. So the American president may be powerful in many respects, but he's not powerful in law enforcement areas. What Nixon very quickly worked out is the only substantive area law enforcement where the federal government had any authority and capacity for action was in narcotics. So what he did was he manufactured a crisis and then he came up with a solution. 


The crisis came from a series of press releases from the Drug Enforcement Administration, releasing statistics showing a massive expansion in the number of addicts. Now, they even took me in on this. I read those statistics like everybody else and I said, "My god, this is getting out of control." But all they had done was to change the statistical ratio. In the 1960s before Nixon, our numbers of drug addicts - about 60,000 - came from two things: (1) a central registry of addicts into which police put the name of every addict. Another way figures were derived was through a statistical ratio between the number of bodies in the morgue from overdoses and the overall addict population. All the DEA did under Nixon was to change the ratio between corpses and addicts. They just simply said ... I forget now the statistics - let's say it was 1 to 2. For every corpse you're likely to have two addicts. Then they made it 1 to 10 - for every corpse you can have ten addicts. So suddenly we had this massive expansion but it was just a result of statistical manipulation, changing the ratio between the known (the corpse) and the unknown (the number of addicts). In this way they manufactured this enormous sense of crisis. 


Moreover, there was more crime that was probably somewhat drug-related in the 60s and 70s - maybe, maybe not, I don't know. But in any case, they made this equation. We've got more drugs, we've got more addicts, and we’ve got more crime. Having manufactured this crisis, having "discovered" the problem of this massive expansion in heroin addiction, Nixon then declared war as his solution. 


Nixon's image of the drug trade went like this: that there was raw opium being diverted from licensed opium growers in Turkey. There is, in fact, a legitimate pharmaceutical need for morphine which comes, like heroin, from the opium poppy. Turkey was a legal producer of opium for the pharmaceutical market, for patients in hospitals who are dying of cancer and in incredible pain - they needed morphine. Troops use it in battle - it's a big market for people in accidents, all sorts of things. It's an important drug and has been for millennia. 


Turkey was a legitimate producer but what was happening, according to Nixon, was that peasants were producing more than their quota and selling it to the black market; it was working its way down through Lebanon, across the Mediterranean into Marseilles labs and then the United States. So Nixon said that he was going to fight his war on drugs, battle one on the Anatolian plateau of Turkey. It was a very simple war. It was a war that didn't involve very much. All Nixon did was announcing this war. He then used the very close defense relationship between Turkey and the United States to pressure the Turks through normal well-established diplomatic channels, to force their farmers to go out of production. 


The Turkish government was faced with a choice - they could risk their whole strategic relationship with the United States in defense of farmers from a remote small region who were producing a minor product. Although it offended nationalism, they did it. They went along with it. Nixon also offered them, I think, $35 million to develop substitute crops, so there was a carrot-and-a-stick. The stick was the threat of a troubled strategic relationship and the carrot was this foreign aid bonus that was going to help these farmers produce a new crop. 


So the Turks went along and it was a very simple battle. Nixon then declared war. He started then manipulating the statistics downward; changing them so the public would see the problem was getting under control. Then Watergate intervened and all of his political plans went awry. A number of the people that were hired for his super drug agency called DALE became, in fact, the people that were involved in the Watergate conspiracy itself. So, as Watergate erupted, his whole drug program blew up and he got into a whole set of different problems and his drug strategy went away. But the DEA, long after the klieg lights were turned off and the correspondents went home, was still fighting the war on drugs and we went to Nixon to Ford and Carter. They had greatly expanded operational funds and a greatly expanded establishment. 


What the first war of drugs seemed to have produced, on balance, was a worsening of America's drug problem. The attempted interdiction failed - not only did it fail, it worsened the drug problem. Why do I say this, because it's a fairly strong conclusion? It's one I reached by looking at it. 


The United States applied a very simple law enforcement model to a complex global commodity trade. Let me look at those words now. What's a law enforcement model? Okay. You've got a prostitute or a group of prostitutes operating on a street corner in a brothel. You raid them, you put them in jail, you stop prostitution. It can be done. You've got somebody, let's say, more localized - running peep shows. Close them down. There goes peep shows. You've got people doing, let's say, stealing cars and cutting up auto parts - well, you can handle that. It's localized. It's within police capacities. This is a simple thing. This is a small business, being run by a limited number of definable vice entrepreneurs. They are subject to an enforcement operation which can wipe out their business. 


This is not true of narcotics. The variables, the points of pressure are global. We can't control them all. For two centuries now we've had integration of the first world demand for drugs, initially legal and now illegal - people in this society, and they're different people at different times, take illicit drugs. They take coca and opiate based products. They take cocaine and heroin and they have now for centuries. So this well-established demand for drugs, which save for the disruption of war has never gone away, it's just constant, there's a market here, has been tied into the complex political economy of the highland regions of the Andes and the southern Asian mountain rim. You're not talking about small localized areas. You're talking about the whole Andes, from Bolivia all the way through to Ecuador for coca. In Asia, for opium, when you actually look at a map, you're looking at almost a unitary drug zone that ranges for nearly 5,000 miles across the southern rim of Asia. It starts in the rest in the Anatolia plateau of Turkey, it then goes into Afghanistan, Pakistan, India, Burma, Thailand, Laos, and once upon a time North Vietnam but not any more. It runs right across the whole southern rim of the Asian land mass. So when Nixon came into Anatolia and wiped out the Anatolian market, Anatolia is just one player! In fact, if you look at the percentages, they were less than 10% of the illicit market. What did that do? 


Well, as any farmer will tell you, if Russia doesn't produce any wheat, we're going to do very well here. We will know about that - if we don't know about it this year, we'll know about it next year - American farmers will get more money. They will go out and plant more wheat - they'll have a big bumper crop because Russia's not producing wheat, the crop's failed, the price goes up. 


Well, in the case of the Nixon drug war in Anatolia, we wiped out illicit production in Anatolia. What happened? The price for reliable, available illicit narcotics shot up in the world. So Southeast Asia's Golden Triangle, which is the world's largest supplier, met that demand. So we got then the Southeast Asian market, which had hitherto been just regional, coming out of the mountains of Southeast Asia to the cities of Southeast Asia - now began to export to the United States, let's say the northwestern United States. By 1974 in Seattle, nearly 50% of all the drug seizures in the streets of Seattle were from Southeast Asia. So the Nixon White House got upset - "We just wiped it out in Turkey! Let's get a firebreak team out to Southeast Asia!" So they sent a firebreak team out to Southeast Asia, okay. They sent 40 agents into Bangkok and they're all bankrolled to the hilt. They rented an entire division of the Thai national police! 


They put out the word on the streets that anybody that sells drugs can turn the drug buyer in and, no questions asked, they'll give him a bonus. So in Bangkok if you were a dealer you could sell to a foreign buyer and you could then turn around and turn them in so you get a percentage bonus on busting this guy! They actually then put what I call a "customs shield" down. The cost of expo went up because you had all these seizures. For every kilo you're sending, maybe you're losing one in three - we don't know how many they were sending exactly, but they were losing a lot. The seizures went way up. 


So, what did the drug exporters of Southeast Asia do? Well, I wasn't privy to their councils, nobody was. My feeling is the drug warlords of Southeast Asia sat around and were faced with two choices: (1) they could go out of business, but they weren't about to do that; and (2) they find a new market. That's what they did. They found new markets and I'm sure they thought it over like we would. Mere are only four areas of the world that have the standards of living to support the very high cost of international narcotics trafficking. They're North America (Canada and the United States), Japan, Europe and Australia. Well, the North American market was closed for reasons we just described, so what did the exporters do? They started exporting to Australia and Europe. Australia and Europe had no drug problem. In 1970, Holland had maybe 800 addicts. In 1976 Holland had 10,000 addicts. And that's what happened all over Europe. Europe's got a big drug problem. The Southeast Asian syndicates just started shipping straight to Europe. 
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Australia had no drug problem in 1975. They now have a drug problem with heroin, as large in proportion as the United States. It came from the same period. So you suddenly have two big new markets - not only America as your destination. Well, meanwhile, American dealers can't get their stuff from Southeast Asia so they turn to Mexico. Mexico booms, Mexico gets closed down and then they turn to Southwest Asia - Pakistan and Afghanistan. In short, what you get as a result of this attempt at suppression is an elaboration of global trafficking routes - not just one big market, America, but now three big markets - Europe, Australia and America. And not just one major source, Turkey, but in fact, the whole of this mountain band of Asia is ready to supply the world. There's now been a disruption with cocaine in Central America because of all this pressure and there's been some disruption in Afghanistan. Southeast Asia is now number one. In short, what we have then is an elaboration of trafficking routes - more areas of consumption, more areas of production, more tightly knit together so that the attempted interdiction complicated the global trafficking to the point that it's now beyond any interdiction effort. I would think that the probable consequences of the Bush attempted interdiction in Latin America will be similar. You can't predict quite how it's going to work out, but based on what we know from the Nixon drug wars, it'll make the problem worse. 


Barsamian: And in your view, the enforcement effort has been totally compromised? 


McCoy: Well, yeah, the enforcement effort such as it is. Although, you know, it's usually run by bureaucrats that are reasonably dedicated to what they're doing. If you meet drug agents and you talk to them about what they're doing, they believe they're trying to do something good. They think that keeping drugs out of America is a good thing to do and I think that everybody would agree that these guys are doing an important job. That's why we keep hiring more of them and they get killed like Camarena in Mexico and take a lot of risks. I'm not talking about them, okay? But what are they essentially trying to do? What are these drug agents trying to do? 


They're trying to find out who the drug brokers are, they're trying to get the drug brokers arrested, they're trying to get the host government where they're operating - whether it be Mexico or Thailand - to use their very substantial police forces to crack down on the drug lords. The next thing they're trying to do is to cut the connection between 'Thailand and Mexico or Central America and the United States. So, over the short term, they're trying to stop the drugs, make seizures, and disrupt it. Over the long term, identify the traffickers, the brokers and their political supporters, and get these guys out of business. That's the job of the anti-drug bureaucracy. 


It's only been a strong bureaucracy now for about 15 years, since the Nixon war on drugs they beefed the DEA up and it keeps getting beefed up. One of the things that will happen as a result of the Bush drug war I expect will be another major expansion of the DEA. Working against that has been the Central Intelligence Agency. Because of their mandate to stop communism or to run a secret army in Laos or to harass the Nicaragua government with the contra operation - because they've had a political covert action mandate- they have found it convenient to ally themselves with the very drug brokers the DEA is trying to put in jail. While you're working with the CIA you are untouchable. The CIA backs you up. There are instances of minor traffickers being arrested in the United States for importing drugs and the CIA will actually go to the local police and courts and get them off and out because oftentimes they threaten to talk, make trouble, so the CIA just gets them out. What the CIA does in these known instances it does more broadly. I, for example, had reason to gather evidence based on talking to American officials in my own inquiry that the Chief of Staff of the Royal Laotian Army and the commander of the CIA secret army were involved in drugs. What happened when I made this allegation? The CIA did everything to discredit my allegations. They attacked me. 'They didn't attack Vang Pao who was operating a heroin ring. They didn't go after General Owen Radicone (?) who had the world's biggest heroin operation - they went after me! They tried to suppress my book, they threatened to murder my sources, they spent $25 million in staging a massive opium burning by the Nationalist Chinese forces in northern Thailand announcing they were retiring from the drug trade. I mean, they went through all kinds of hoops to discredit me and my allegations. They protect these guys. While you're working with the agency, you are protected. 


So at critical points in the history of the international drug trade, the CIA has moved in and allied itself with local drug brokers. Often times the brokers have been able to use that alliance to their advantage and at a critical time when they were making new connections, they were reaching out and opening new markets there their whole apparatus was exposed in a way that it won't be once they get it tied down and get the procedures established. At this critical point they're under protection from the CIA. 


Barsamian: Are there any facets of the documentation that you developed and the evidence that you uncovered in your research in writing The Politics of Heroin in Southeast Asia, any new information that you've uncovered in recent years that you might add or change regarding your original investigations? 


McCoy: The book was, for whatever reason, pretty solid. A number of CIA people I've met since have said that it's pretty accurate. Some of them - the only complaints I've had are some who say that "it wasn't really us in analysis; it was really the covert action boys." It was really what's called "plans," the director of the plans, which is one of four divisions of the CIA. A lot of agency people who I'm sure are in intelligence analysis feel kind of besmirched and offended, but they generally agree that it's a pretty accurate depiction of what's going on. 


Barsamian: Do you think that the current war on drugs might be used as a vehicle of U.S. intervention in foreign countries? 


McCoy: That is something I can't answer. We can only speculate. This is a conversation, so I'll speculate. The evidence brought out by Jonathan Marshall who's preparing a book on cocaine in Central America - he's the op ed page editor of the Oakland Tribune - and most recently by the New York Times, raises real questions about the Panama operation. I mean, Noriega was portrayed as this desperate drug lord, this satanic figure that had to be knocked out in order for the drug war to go ahead. And we knocked out this evil man, Noriega, and put him on trial in Miami. 


Then we put in a government which, according to the New York Times g don't know if you saw that report) ... a government which is, in fact, linked either personally or their relatives are linked with the Panamanian banking industry. 


Now ... why is there a big banking industry in Panama? 


Panama is a little tiny country that was formerly a province of Colombia before the United States separated them and built the canal. For Colombians, Panama is just like next door. It's the old province. And yet it's not a part of Colombia any more. So if you're a Panamanian cocaine merchant, if you're the Medellin cartel or the Cali cartel, where do you do your banking? You don't do it in Bogota, you do it in Panama City and you do it through these big Panamanian banks. If you've ever noticed the photographs of the financial district of Panama City, it looks like a mini-Wall Street or a mini-downtown Los Angeles. Why? Why in this poor economy do you have this elaborate banking structure? It's built from money laundering and the Endara government, as individuals - and of his vice presidents, several of his cabinet ministers - are the boards of banks which have been big in the money laundering industry. Moreover, one of Endara's key cabinet people was actually a lawyer for one of the big drug lords of Colombia. So what you're looking at is we replaced Manuel Noriega who is supposedly this evil drug dealer who moved a million dollars of drugs and made $4 million from the Medellin cartel - we replace this guy with people who represent the Panamanian money- laundering industry which was moving the money from the United States to Colombia. We got rid of some petty thug, some tough guy on the street who's stealing hubcaps, and we put the Mafia in power. 


Why? Why? I don't know yet. I mean, what it means to me is that the whole Panamanian operation didn't have anything to do with the drug war. I think it has to do with essentially trying to maintain influence in Panama. And Noriega, whatever else he was, was a nationalist who was very good at manipulating the United States. I think that infuriated us. Just to continue my speculative theme, my scenario - uninformed and totally ignorant, just based at looking at Laos and then guessing what could be going on in Colombia and Panama - my scenario would be that the hidden history of Panama maybe reads like this: 


You have a nationalist general who takes this colonial creation of the United States, this country of Panama, and gives it some dignity, a charismatic figure - General Omar Torrijos. The United States hated Torrijos. They hated him why? Because Torrijos was a convincing nationalist. He mobilized the Panamanian people, he had some kind of intentional prestige, and he forced the United States to give up our greatest jewel of empire - the canal, which for a certain type of American is embedded in our consciousness. I mean, what India was to the British, what the Netherlands Indies was to Holland, the Panama Canal is to us. That's our empire, you know, our great triumph. 


So Torrijos took away the canal and - guess what!? - Reagan comes into office and Torrijos has an aircraft accident. 


Why? How? It's never been explained. Maybe he was killed. The CIA runs a lot of maintenance and aircraft firms in the Caribbean - maybe they did it. Anyhow, somebody kills Torrijos so they're looking around for some new pliable man to put in power to make sure they don't have trouble. So they install Noriega and they know Noriega's reliable because they know Noriega's been doing the drug operations for them in a small kind of petty way. So they know they've got him. He's manageable - he moves the drugs, he does whatever he wants, he's the intelligence chief under Torrijos. Now he's the CIA's liaison and perfectly reliable. What does Noriega do? He turns around and does exactly what Torrijos did. He plays to the nationalist crowd; he uses the drug money and the Panamanian economy to build up an independent political base so that he's no longer controllable. So what do we do? We stigmatize him as a drug lord, we go in and invade, we get rid of him, and we put in an ugly, pliable government. We got rid of a man who maybe made $4 million from drugs and we replace him with a cabinet who are representatives of a multi-billion dollar bank-cum-money laundering industry. 


To me the logic is not so much to get rid of drugs but to maintain U.S. influence in a key strategic area at a time when the Canal is about to be turned over and the Canal still remains strategically significant for the United States. So my hunch, my guess, my uninformed opinion is that the Panamanian intervention has very little to do with drugs and everything to do with U.S. power abroad We dressed up our national strategic interest, no longer in the ball gown of anti-communism but in the formal wear of anti-narcotics policy. We're still just maintaining U.S. power and it's likely that the drug war is going to have other episodes like this. Whether or not the whole drug war will ultimately become a prisoner, a creation of U.S. global strategic interests I don't know. It's too early to say. But in this particular instance the major battle in the drug war looks very dubious. 


Barsamian: In your view, there will be a marked increase and expansion of drug addiction and drug use in the United States, Europe and Australia - Incidentally, earlier you mentioned that the drug flow went into Europe and Australia, but not into Japan, is that correct? 


McCoy: Yes. 


Barsamian: Why not? 


McCoy: The relationship between the ruling Liberal Democratic Party (the conservatives) and the big organized crime syndicates, which are enormous in Japan, is a very tight one and has been historically since the end of World War II. There's been a very close integration with the organized crime operations and the ruling conservative party. The conservatives have been in power now in Japan since 1948. It's one of the longest reigns of any party anywhere in the world. There's a kind of entente, an understanding between the syndicates and the government - it's not rigid - but the basic understanding is no drugs. That's the basic thing. Don't move drugs. And the Japanese police are ruthlessly efficient. If any of the syndicates, any of the big families - some of them have 10,000 members in them - broke this rule, the police have sufficient mechanisms of control to punish them for it. So in this complex politics of organized crime in Japan, they can do prostitution, they can do all kinds of fraud, they can do many things - but not drugs. So Japan's never opened up. 


DeGaulle had a very similar relationship with the Corsican syndicates during his reign in the 1960s and early 1970s. The understanding was that the Corsican syndicates in Marseilles would manufacture in Marseilles under protection. But they would not sell in France. They would only export to the United States. That began to break down. DeGaulle died, Pompidoux replaced him and the Gaullists lost power, there was pressure on the syndicates, some new groups came in and started breaking the rule, and France wound up with a drug problem. But for practically a decade that rule held.                                                                                                          


The CIA 

       flew heroin around Asia on the CIA proprietary 
       airline AIR AMERICA during Viet Nam, and refined Hmong and 
       Burmese poppy in Asian soft drink bottling factories, used the 
       U.S. Mafioso MOB to distribute the drugs and banked millions 
       in their own Bank which they later collapsed, stealing the 
       receipts.   


The CIA                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   The answer lies in the CIA's doctrine of covert action and its consequent reliance upon the influence of local military leaders or warlords. In Laos a handful of CIA agents relied on tribal leaders to motivate their troops and Lao generals to protect the cover of this operation. After fighting in Vietnam spilled over into Laos in 1965, 

The CIA recruited 30,000 Hmong highlanders into this secret army, making the tribe a critical CIA asset. Between 1965 and 1970 the Hmong guerrillas recovered downed U.S. pilots, battled local communists, monitored the Ho Chi Minh Trail, and, most importantly, protected the radar that guided the            U.S Air Force bombing of North Vietnam.

By 1971, according to a U.S. Air Force study, every Hmong family had lost members. To fight this secret war, the CIA sent in American agents in a ratio of one for every thousand Hmong guerrillas, numbers that made the Agency dependent upon tribal leaders who could mobilize their people for this endless slaughter. The CIA gave its chosen client, Hmong General Vang Pao, control over all air transport into Hmong villages scattered across the mountain-tops of northern Laos-the shipment of rice, their main subsistence commodity, into the villages and the transport of opium, the tribe's only cash crop, out to markets. With his chokehold over the household economy of every single Hmong family, General Vang Pao was transformed from a minor tribal warlord into a powerful man who could extract boy soldiers for slaughter in an endless war. 

Since opium trading reinforced the authority of these Hmong officers, the CIA found it necessary to tolerate the traffic.

The CIA's policy of tolerance towards its Laotian allies did not change even when they began producing heroin to supply U.S. combat forces fighting in South Vietnam. In 1968-1969, CIA assets opened a cluster of heroin laboratories in the Golden Triangle region where Burma, Thailand and Laos converge. When Hmong officers loaded opium on the CIA's Air America and the Lao army's commander-in-chief opened a heroin lab to supply U.S. troops in South Vietnam, the Agency was silent. In a secret internal report compiled in 1972, the CIA Inspector General said the following to explain their inaction: "The past involvement of many of these officers in drugs is well-known. But their goodwill considerably facilitates the military activities of Agency-supported irregulars."

All of this heroin was smuggled into South Vietnam. Where? By 1971, according to a White House survey, 34%, or more than one-third, of U.S. troops were addicted to heroin. Instead of trying to restrain drug trafficking by its Laotian assets, the Agency participated in, engaged in, concealment and cover-up. 

When I went to Laos to investigate in 1971, the Lao army commander very graciously opened his opium account books to me, but the U.S. Mission stonewalled. In a Hmong village where we were investigating opium shipments on Air America, CIA mercenaries ambushed my research team. A CIA operative threatened to murder my Lao interpreter unless I quit my investigations. When my book The Politics of Heroin was in press, the CIA's Deputy Director for Plans pressured my publisher to suppress it. The CIA's General Counsel demanded deletions of all references to Agency complicity.

After my book was published, unaltered, CIA agents in Laos pressed my sources to repent and convinced investigators from the House Foreign Relations Committee that my allegations were baseless. Simultaneously, however, the CIA's Inspector General conducted a secret internal investigation that confirmed the core of my allegations: "The war has clearly been our overriding priority in Southeast Asia, and all other issues have taken second place," the Inspector General said in defense of their inaction on drugs. "It would be foolish to deny this, and we see no reason to do so."

Why didn't my exposé of CIA complicity produce a firestorm of protest back in the 1970s? Indeed, by 1974 Southeast Asian syndicates were supplying a quarter of the demand for U.S. heroin with Golden Triangle heroin. But Asia was too remote for any allegations of CIA complicity to pack a political punch.


    BY 1971, 34 percent of all U.S. soldiers in South Vietnam were heroin addicts, according to a White House survey. There were more American heroin addicts in South Vietnam than in the entire United States-largely supplied from heroin laboratories operated by CIA allies, though the White House failed to acknowledge that unpleasant fact. Since there was no indigenous local market, Asian drug lords started shipping Golden Triangle heroin not consumed by the GIs to the United States, where it soon won a significant share of the illicit market.
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                                                                                                                                                                                  AIR AMERICA --Rice Drop by an AA C46 over Laos                                                                                                                                                                            Among other things?  
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Air America H34 at the Hmong Village of Phu Pha Dang, Laos, with cargo
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                                                                                                                                                General Vang Pao and his soldiers lived and were based there.  We re-supplied the Hmong Mountain people with rice and hard rice (ammo) by air drop using Choppers and STOL (short take off & landing) aircraft to include Porters and Helio Couriers.  (See the C46 air drop picture above this one)
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LS 50 the Hmong village of Northeast Laos
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                                                                                                                Lao Village
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                                                                                                     Soldier Meo (Hmong) man                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

Long Tien) in Laos-- Long Tien was one of the most secret U.S. installations anywhere in the world.

PICTURE BELOW (Long Tien) in Laos-- Long Tien was one of the most secret U.S. installations anywhere in the world. It was the headquarters of the whole secret war in Laos, this attempt to fight the Ho Chi Minh trail, to cut it with this mercenary army. Long Tien was closed to any American other than somebody that had top intelligence classification. [image: image16.jpg]
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Long Tieng , Laos, 1970
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CIA Bell 205 just returning from a mission with Hmong Soldiers at Long Tieng 
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                                                                                       AIR AMERICA Bell 205s at Long Tieng
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Air America Huey taking off from MACV Team outpost in Chau Doc Province, An Phu District in 1969, about 1 km from the Cambodian border.


  Below: Are three pictures of Air America in Americal Division Headquarters Chopper Pad                                                             
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             CIA History  
 Supporting the “Secret War“                                                                                          


CIA AIR OPERATIONS IN LAOS 1955-1974  
Operations in Vietnam continued until the fall of Saigon in April 
1975.  


The largest paramilitary operations ever undertaken by the CIA 
took place in the small Southeast Asian Kingdom of Laos. For 
more than 13 years, the agency directed native forces that 
fought major North Vietnamese units to a standstill. Although 
the country eventually fell to the communist the CIA remained 
proud of its accomplishments in Laos. As Director of Central 
Intelligence (DCI) Richard Helms later observed: (This was a 
major operation for the agency...It took manpower; It took 
specially qualified manpower; It was dangerous; It was 
difficult.) The CIA, he contended, did "A superb job."  


Air America, an airline secretly owned by the CIA, was a vital 
component in the agency's operations in Laos. By the summer of 
1970, the airline had some two dozen twin-engine transports, 
another two dozen short-take off-and-landing (STOL) aircraft, 
and 30 helicopters dedicated to operations in Laos. There were 
more than 300 pilots, copilots, flight mechanics, and airfreight 
specialists flying out of Laos and Thailand. During 1970, Air 
America airdropped or landed 46 million pounds of food stuffs --
mainly rice--in Laos. Helicopter flight time reached more than 
4000 hours a month in the same year. Air America crews 
transported tens of thousands of troops and refugees, flew 
emergency medevac missions and rescued downed airmen throughout 
Laos, inserted and extracted road-watch teams, flew nighttime 
airdrop mission over the Ho Chi Minh trail, monitored sensors 
along infiltration routes, conducted a highly successful photo 







reconnaissance program, and engaged in numerous clandestine 
missions using night-vision glasses and state-of-the-art 
electronic equipment. Without Air America's presence, the CIA's 
effort in Laos could not have been sustained.  


 


  


How It Began  


The story of the real Air America begins in 1950, when the CIA 
decided that it required an air transport capability to conduct 
covert operations in Asia in support of US policy objectives. In 
August 1950, the Agency secretly purchased the assets of Civil 
Air Transport (CAT), an airline that had been started in China 
after World War II by Gen. Claire L. Chennault and Whiting 
Willauer. CAT would continue to fly commercial routes throughout 
Asia, acting in every way as a privately owned commercial 
airline. At the same time, under the corporate guise of CAT 
Incorporated, it provided airplanes and crews for secret 
intelligence operations.  


In the 1950s, the CIA's air proprietary, as it was known in the 
lexicon of intelligence, was used for a variety of covert 
missions. During the Korean War, for example, it made more than 
100 hazardous overflights of Mainland China, air dropping agents 
and supplies.  


Supporting the French  


CAT also became involved in the French war against Communist 
insurgents in Indochina. In April 1953, the French appealed to 
President Eisenhower for the use of US Air Force C-119 
transports and crews to fly tanks and heavy equipment to their 
hard-pressed forces in Laos. "Having such equipment," the French 
emphasized, "might mean the difference between holding and 
losing Laos."  


While reluctant to commit American military personnel to the war 
in Indochina, the Eisenhower administration was anxious to 







assist the French. This led to a decision to use CAT pilots to 
fly an airlift in US Air Force-supplied C-119s. In early May, a 
group of CAT personnel arrived at Clark Air Force Base in the 
Philippines for 72 hours of concentrated ground and flight 
school on the unfamiliar C-119s. On 5 May, they flew six of the 
transports, now bearing the tricolored roundels of the French 
Air Force, to Gia Lam airbase, outside Hanoi.  


Operation SQUAW began the next day. It continued until 16 July, 
with CAT pilots making numerous airdrops to French troops in 
Laos. With the waning of the Vietminh offensive, which was more 
due to the weather than French resistance, the CAT crews were 
withdrawn.  


The war in Indochina, however, continued to go badly for the 
French. In November 1953, French paratroopers occupied Dien Bien 
Phu in northwestern Vietnam, 10 miles from the Laos border, and 
established an airhead. Gen. Henri Navarre, French military 
commander, wanted to lure the Vietminh into a setpiece battle in 
which superior French firepower could be used for more effect. 
Among the many mistakes made by the French in placing their 
troops 220 miles from Hanoi was their miscalculation of the air 
transport resources needed to keep their isolated forces 
supplied. Col. Jean-Louis Nicot, head of the French Air 
Transport Command in Indochina, lacked sufficient aircrews to 
meet the Army's demands. Unless additional assistance could be 
obtained, the French garrison could not be kept supplied.  


In early January 1954, Washington alerted CAT for a possible 
return to Indochina. Under a contract signed with French 
authorities on 3 March, CAT would supply 24 pilots to operate 12 
C-119s that would be maintained by US Air Force personnel. 
Operations from Hanoi's Cat Bi airfield to Dien Bien Phu got 
under way just as the Vietminh began their assault on the French 
position. Between 13 March and the fall of Dien Bien Phu on 7 
May, CAT pilots flew 682 airdrop missions to the beleaguered 
French troops. One plane was shot down in early May, and the two 
pilots were killed; many other C-119s suffered heavy flak 
damage, and one pilot was severely wounded.  


CAT operations continued in Indochina after the fall of Dien 
Bien Phu. Between mid-May and mid-August, C-119s dropped 
supplies to isolated French outposts and delivered loads 
throughout the country. CAT also supplied 12 C-46s for Operation 
COGNAC, the evacuation of people from North Vietnam to South 
Vietnam following the signing of the Geneva Agreement on 21 July 
1954. Between 22 August and 4 October, CAT flew 19,808 men, 







women, and children out of North Vietnam. It also carried 
members of the CIA's Saigon Military Mission north of the 17th 
parallel. Attempts by the CIA to establish stay behind 
paramilitary networks in the north, however, proved futile.  


Concern about Laos  


The Geneva Conference of 1954, in addition to dividing Vietnam 
at the 17th parallel, confirmed the status of Laos as an 
independent state. The nation would be ruled by the Royal Lao 
Government from Vientiane on the Mekong River. Members of the 
pro-Communist Pathet Lao would regroup in the northern provinces 
of Sam Neua and Phong Saly pending integration into the central 
regime. The French were allowed to maintain a small military 
presence in the country to train the Royal Lao Army (FAR).  


Laotian independence suited the policy of the United States, so 
long as the government remained non-Communist. Laos represented 
one of the dominos in Southeast Asia that concerned President 
Eisenhower and Secretary of State John Foster Dulles. Although 
the country had little intrinsic value, its geographical 
position placed it in the center of the Cold War in Southeast 
Asia. If Laos fell to the Communists, Thailand might be next, 
according to the domino theory. And the collapse of Thailand 
would lead to Communist domination of Southeast Asia-and perhaps 
beyond.  


US Aid  


Under an agreement signed in 1950, the United States had been 
supplying economic and military aid to Laos. Following the 
Geneva Conference, Washington decided to expand this program. In 
January 1955, it established the United States Operations 
Mission (USOM) in Vientiane to administer economic assistance. 
At the end of the year, the Programs Evaluation Office (PEO)-
staffed by reserve or retired military officers and akin to a 
Military Assistance Advisory Group-was set up within USOM to 
handle military aid.  


CAT soon became involved in USOM's aid program. In July 1955, 
USOM officials learned that a rice failure threatened famine in 
several provinces in Laos. As a number of these areas were in 
remote, mountainous regions, airdrops would be the only feasible 
means to delivering essential supplies of rice and salt. Three 
CAT C-46s arrived at the northeastern railhead of Udorn, 
Thailand on 11 September to begin the airlift. By the end of the 
month, CAT had flown more than 200 missions to 25 reception 







areas, delivering 1,000 tons of emergency food. Conducted 
smoothly and efficiently, this airdrop relief operation marked 
the beginning of CAT's-and, later, Air America's-support of US 
assistance programs in Laos.  


CAT's permanent presence in Laos began on 1 July 1957, when 
Bruce B. Blevins brought C-47 B-817 to Vientiane to service a 
new contract with the US Embassy. Blevins found flying 
conditions primitive in Laos. At least Vientiane had a pierced 
steel plank runway and the only control tower in Laos. 
Elsewhere, he usually landed on dirt strips that had been built 
to support Japanese fighters during Work War II. There were no 
aeronautical charts available, so he had to use French 
topographical maps. The only radio aid to navigation in the 
country was a 25-watt nondirectional beacon at Vientiane that 
was operated by employees of Air Laos, the country's commercial 
airline, who turned it on when it suited them.  


Between 1957 and 1959, the unstable political situation in Laos 
led to a growing American presence in the country as the United 
States increased its support of the FAR. Air America-the name 
changed on 26 March 1959, primarily to avoid confusion about the 
air proprietary's operations in Japan-provided essential 
transportation for the expanding American effort in Laos. The 
airline's C-47s and C-46s passed more frequently through 
Vientiane to fulfill urgent airdrop requests. Blevins also was 
kept busy, landing throughout the country and making numerous 
airdrops to isolated FAR posts. He developed an especially close 
relationship with a CIA case officer who had arrived in October 
1958 and who was assigned to support Capt. Kong Le's parachute 
battalion. The case officer frequently called on Blevins to 
carry personnel and supplies.  


The summer of 1959 saw the introduction into Laos of a US 
Special Forces Group, codenamed Hotfoot, under the command of 
Lt. Col. Arthur "Bull" Simons. Twelve Mobile Training Teams took 
up duties at Vientiane, Luang Prabang, Savannekhet, and Pakse. 
The appearance of the Americans coincided with the outbreak of 
fighting between the FAR and Pathet Lao. In light of these 
developments, CIA officials in Laos requested additional air 
transport resources.  


Increasing Air Support  


In August 1959, CIA headquarters ordered its air proprietary to 
send two pilots to Japan for helicopter training. Robert E. 
Rousselot, vice president for operations, remembers being called 







into President Hugh L. Grundy's office in Taipei and shown the 
message. The requirement had "come out of the blue." He assumed 
that the CIA had a special operation in mind that called for the 
use of a helicopter and that it would be "a one-time deal." 
Little did Rousselot realize that this would be the beginning of 
a major rotary wing operation in Laos.  


Eventually, four CAT pilots were trained on US Air Force H-19A 
helicopters in Japan and the Philippines. The CAT contingent did 
not reach Laos until March 1960. Due to the operating 
limitations of the H-19s, the under powered helicopters could 
fly only at lower elevations in the country. Generally, they 
were used to carry CIA case officers to meetings in outlying 
areas and to distribute leaflets during elections.  


By June 1960, it had become clear that helicopters would form a 
permanent part of Air America' s operations in Laos. It was 
equally apparent that neither the under powered H-19s nor the 
inexperienced Air America rotary wing pilots could do the job. 
Both Rousselot and the CIA recognized that better equipment and 
properly trained pilots were needed to accomplish the mission. 
Rousselot hired four experienced US Marine Corps helicopter 
pilots who obtained their discharges in Okinawa to fly the H-
19s. Later in the year, the CIA arranged for the Marine Corps to 
transfer four UH-34D helicopters to Air America to replace the 
H-19s.  


The Helio Courier  


At the same time that Air America was trying to develop a 
rotary-wing capability in Laos, the company also was taking 
steps to introduce STOL aircraft into the country. Maj. Harry C. 
Aderholt, a US Air Force detailee with the CIA, had supervised 
the development of the Helio Courier while serving with the 
Agency's air branch. Convinced that the aircraft could survive 
the short, rugged airstrips often found in remote areas he 
became the foremost advocate for Air America's adoption of the 
Helio Courier.  


Air America obtained a Helio for trials in Laos in the fall of 
1959. The STOL program got off to a poor start. The Helio's 
engines proved temperamental, frequently developing vapor locks 
on starting. Mud, rocks, and gravel tended to block the 
aircraft's crosswind landing gear. The rudder needed 
modification so that it would not jam. Also, the first pilots 
who flew the airplane were used to multiengine transports and 







did not receive adequate training on an airplane that demanded 
special handling techniques.  


Air America came close to abandoning the Helio. It was saved by 
Aderholt, who believed in the aircraft's capability and was 
determined to see it work, and by Rousselot, who feared that the 
CIA would give the STOL mission to a rival company-Bird & Son-if 
Air America proved incapable of doing the job. Early in 1960, 
Rousselot assigned Ronald J. Sutphin, a talented light plane 
pilot, to the project. Both Aderholt and Rousselot agree that it 
was Sutphin's skillful demonstration of the extraordinary 
capability of the STOL aircraft that led the CIA to greatly 
expand the program.  


Supporting the Anti-Communists  


In August 1960, President Eisenhower complained at a press 
conference that "Laos is a very confused situation." Civil war 
had broken out between the neutralist forces of paratroop 
commander Kong Le and rightwing Gen. Phoumi Nosavan. The 
Communist Pathet Lao supported Kong Le, while the US military 
and CIA lined up behind Phoumi. As Adm. Harry D. Felt, Commander 
in Chief of the Pacific Fleet explained; "Phoumi is no George 
Washington. However, he is anti-Communist, which is what counts 
most in the sad Laos situation."  


As Phoumi prepared to march on Vientiane from his base in 
Savannakhet, US assistance to the rightwing general increased 
sharply. Special Forces personnel conducted intensive training 
of Phoumi's troops, while Air America transports flew in 
supplies from Bangkok. Phoumi also obtained support from his 
close friend, Thai Prime Minister Marshal Sarit Thanarat, who 
sent teams from the elite Police Aerial Reinforcement Unit to 
work with Phoumi's soldiers.  


Heavy fighting took place in December as General Phoumi drove 
Kong Le out of Vientiane. By the end of the year, Kong Le-who 
was now receiving support from a Soviet airlift-had retreated 
north to the Plaine des Jarres (PDJ), securing the vital 
airfield complex in that area.  


The appearance of the Soviets alarmed American military 
authorities. Admiral Felt cabled the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 29 
December: "With full relaxation of the seriousness of the 
decision to intervene, I believe strongly that we must intervene 
now or give up northern Laos." Chief of Naval Operations Ad. 
Arleigh Burke agreed. "If we lose Laos," he told the Joint 







Chiefs on 31 December, "we will probably lose Thailand and the 
rest of Southeast Asia. We will have demonstrated to the world 
that we cannot or will not stand when challenged." The effect, 
Burke warned, would soon be felt throughout Asia, Latin America, 
and Africa.  


In preparation for possible US military intervention in Laos, 
the Joint Chiefs ordered the emergency mobilization of a task 
force at Subic Bay in the Philippines. On New Year's day, the 
American warships left port and headed north. At the same time, 
President Eisenhower was looking for ways to stabilize the 
situation in Laos without the need to introduce American troops 
into the conflict. He therefore viewed with favor a proposal by 
the CIA to arm and train Hmong tribesmen.  


  


The PARU Program  


The Hmong project was primarily the work of CIA paramilitary 
specialist James W. (Bill) Lair. A veteran of Work War II, Lair 
had joined the CIA at the outbreak of the Korean War. Assigned 
to Thailand, he had worked as a civilian instructor with the 
Thai Police Department in a CIA-sponsored program to enhance the 
organization's ability to deal with threats from Communist 
insurgents. Attached to the Border Police, Lair soon encountered 
the problem of assisting remote border outposts. When police 
units in outlying areas of Thailand were attacked by Communist 
guerrillas, it often took a week to get reinforcements to the 
stations. He argued that it would be better to have a parachute-
trained unit for such emergencies. Although the Thai Army was 
not happy about the appearance of a paramilitary police 
organization, the Thai Government approved its creation. Aware 
of the Army's sensitivity, Lair selected an innocuous name for 
the new organization: Police Aerial Reinforcement Unit (PARU).  


Lair was proud of his role in developing the PARU program. He 
selected a training camp in south Thailand and initiated a 
rigorous program to create an elite paramilitary force. At one 
point, the PARU program was in danger of losing CIA support. It 
was saved through the intervention of Desmond Fitzgerald, chief 
of the Far East Division in the Clandestine Service. By 1960, 







the PARU force numbered more than 400 highly trained 
individuals.  


Enter Vang Pao  


The key to the Hmong program was Vang Pao, a Hmong military 
leader who commanded the FAR's 10th Infantry Battalion on the 
PDJ. A talented and ambitious officer, Vang Pao early had come 
to the attention of Americans in Laos. In April 1957, the PEO 
had selected him to attend a six-month counterinsurgency-
training program at the Scout Ranger Base in Manila.  


When fighting broke out in Laos at the end of 1959, Vang Pao had 
grown concerned that the Hmong were likely to suffer reprisals 
from the Communists because of the Hmongs' previous close 
association with the French. Encouraged by General Phoumi and 
assisted by a US Special Forces team, he began to organize a 
Hmong staybehind force on the southeastern edge of the PDJ. If 
the Communists occupied the Plaine, Vang Pao intended to 
relocate the Hmong to seven strategic mountaintops surrounding 
the PDJ and carry on the fight.  


Aware that Vang Pao was seeking General Phoumi's assistance, 
Lair decided to look into the possibility of an expanded program 
with the Hmong commander. In late December 1959, Lair met with 
Vang Pao. VP, as he was known to the Americans, said that he 
either had to fight the Communists or leave the country; if the 
United States supplied the weapons, Vang Pao said that he would 
fight and that he could easily raise an army of 10,000.  


Impressed with the Hmong commander, Lair returned to Vientiane 
and reported the contact to station Chief Gordon L. Jorgensen. 
As it happened, Desmond FitzGerald was passing through Vientiane 
en route to Vietnam. Jorgensen suggested that he and Lair get 
together with FitzGerald for dinner. FitzGerald told Lair that 
the PARU's assistance to General Phoumi during his campaign 
against Kong Le had been worth everything that the CIT had spent 
on the program. Lair then outlined a program to support the 
Hmong. FitzGerald asked him to write up the proposal and send it 
to Washington.  


Although Lair "never thought they would do it," he quickly 
dispatched an 18-page cable. A positive answer, he recalled, 
came back "surprisingly soon." Lair's proposal also gained the 
support of Admiral Felt and the State Department. President 
Eisenhower, looking for ways to avoid direct American 







involvement in Laos, was willing to go along with the CIA's 
scheme.  


Backing the Resistance  


With authorization to arm and train 1,000 Hmong as a test of the 
concept, Lair again visited Vang Pao and arranged for an arms 
drop at Pa Dong, a mountaintop base south of the PDJ. In January 
1961, Air America delivered weapons to the first 300 trainees. 
The program nearly got off to a disastrous start when an Air 
America helicopter, carrying Lair and the PARU training team, 
crashed after failing to clear a ridgeline when approaching the 
Hmong camp. Fortunately, there were no injuries.  


The PARU team conducted a three-day training program for the 
Hmong, involving the use of their weapons and basic ambush 
techniques. Lair also asked Vang Pao to select 20 men out of the 
300 for training as radio operators. These individuals were sent 
to the PARU training camp in south Thailand for instruction.  


With the Hmong scattered on mountainous terrain surrounding the 
PDJ, Lair recognized from the beginning that good communications 
would be crucial for effective operations, and he turned to Air 
America. In the early months of 1961, Air America had only a 
handful of helicopters and STOL aircraft available to support 
CIA operations in Laos. This changed in early March, when the 
new administration of President Kennedy became alarmed after 
Kong Le and the Pathet Lao captured a key road junction and 
threatened Vientiane and the royal capital at Luang Prabang. 
Kennedy again placed US military forces in the region on alert, 
and he also authorized the transfer of 14 UH-34 helicopters from 
the Marine Corps to Air America to be flow by Marine, Army, and 
Navy "volunteers."  


On 29 March 1961, Clarence J. Abadie led a flight of 16 UH-34s 
from Bangkok to Air America's new forward operating base at 
Udorn in northeastern Thailand, 40 miles sough of Vientiane. The 
helicopter forces soon became involved in supporting Hmong 
forces engaged in a fierce battle with the Pathet Lao at Pa 
Dong. On 30 May, the first Air America helicopter pilots died in 
Laos, when Charles Mateer and Walter Wizbowski crashed in bad 
weather while trying to land supplies to the besieged Hmong.  


Driven from Pa Dong, Vang Pao moved his headquarters to Pha 
Khao, 10 miles to the southwest. In July, Brig. Gen. Edward G. 
Lansdale reported to Gen. Maxwell D. Taylor, President Kennedy's 
military adviser that 13 PARU teams (99 men) were working with 







the Hmong assisted by nine US Special Forces personnel. Nine CIA 
case officers were assigned to the Hmong program, with two 
backups in Vientiane. More than 9,000 Hmong had been equipped 
for guerrilla operations, with the possibility of securing 4,000 
additional recruits.  


As the Hmong force grew, so did Air America's presence in Laos. 
To connect the scattered Hmong outposts that were separated by 
mountainous terrain, Lair ordered the construction of a chain of 
airstrips, labeled Victor Sites (later called Lima Sites), that 
could be used by Air America's STOL airplanes. In April 1961, 
William R. Andersevic had arrived in Vientiane to take charge of 
Air America's Helio program. Under his direction, the number of 
STOL sites expanded rapidly. Andersevic would locate suitable 
areas, then arrange for local people to cut down trees and level 
the ground as best they could with their primitive equipment. By 
the summer of 1961, Andersevic had given Lair a firm foundation 
upon which to build what would become an extensive network of 
STOL fields throughout northern Laos.  


Air America transports also were the key to feeding the people 
in the Hmong villages where the men had gone off to fight. Lair 
had enlisted the assistance of Edgar M. ("Pop") Buell to deal 
with this program. An Indiana farmer, who had arrived in Laos in 
June 1960 to work with the International volunteer Service, 
Buell proved an inspired choice for the task. After a two-month 
trek around the perimeter of the PDJ, Buell arranged through 
Lair for Air America to make scheduled airdrops of rice to the 
Hmong villages.  


The Diplomatic Track  


While the Hmong program was expanding, President Kennedy had 
been seeking a diplomatic solution to the situation in Laos. At 
a meeting in Vienna in June 1961, Kennedy and Soviet Prime 
Minister Nikita Khrushchev issued a joint statement of support 
for "a neutral and independent Laos." At the same time, 
negotiators met in Geneva to try to work out a settlement to the 
problem.  


On 23 July 1962, a formal "Declaration on the Neutrality of 
Laos" was signed in Geneva. It provided for a coalition 
government and the withdrawal of all foreign troops from the 
country by 7 October. The Untied States pulled out its 666 
military advisers and support staff, and Air America stopped 
dropping weapons to the Hmong. Assistant Secretary of State 
Averill Harriman, who was intent on ensuring US compliance with 







the Geneva accords, allowed the CIA to retain only two men in 
Laos to monitor Communist compliance with the agreement.  


Air America's operations declined sharply in 1963. Restricted to 
food resupply to the Hmong, which averaged 40 tons a month by 
summer, the airline laid off people and mothballed airplanes. By 
May 1963, the number of UH-34s assigned to Udorn had dropped 
from 18 to 6. Flight hours, which had averaged 2,000 per month 
before the Geneva accords, dropped to 600. As helicopter pilot 
Harry Casterlin wrote to his parents; "There are 37 of us over 
here and not enough work...We are doing virtually no flying in 
Laos anymore.  


A Broken Agreement  


Reports reaching CIA Headquarters from its two officers in Laos 
suggested that the apparent quiet was deceptive. It soon became 
clear that 7,000 North Vietnamese Army (NVA) troops had not left 
the country. In fact, the NVA was expanding its areas of 
control, attacking both neutralist and Hmong positions 
throughout Laos. As Hmong ammunition stores dwindled, William 
Colby, who was head of the CIA's Far East Division, pleaded to 
Harriman to allow the resumption of air shipments. "My arguments 
became more forceful," Colby recalled, "reflecting the intense 
cables I was receiving from the two CIA officers who were still 
up in the hills observing and reporting on what was happening." 
Harriman reluctantly approved an Air America arms drop-along 
with instructions that it be used for purely defense purposes. 
Further shipments followed. As Colby pointed out, however, 
Harriman personally approved "each and every clandestine supply 
flight and its cargo."  


Increasing Conflict  


As Hanoi sent additional troops into Laos during 1963, the 
Kennedy administration authorized the CIA to increase the size 
of the Hmong army, now headquartered in the valley of Long 
Tieng. By the end of the year, a reported 20,000 Hmong were 
armed. They acted as guerillas, blowing up NVA supply depots, 
ambushing trucks, mining roads, and generally harassing the 
stronger enemy force. Air America again took a greater role in 
the slowly expanding conflict. "The war is going great guns 
now," helicopter pilot Casterlin informed his parents in 
November 1963. "Don't be misled [by new reports] that I am only 
carrying rice on my missions, as wars aren't won by rice."  







Full-scale fighting broke out in Laos in March 1964, when North 
Vietnamese and Pathet Lao forces attacked across the PDJ. By 
mid-May, the Communists had taken control of the strategic 
region, bringing an end to the already shaky coalition 
government.  


Search and Rescue  


While contemplating direct American military intervention, 
President Johnson ordered Navy and Air Force reconnaissance 
flights over the PDJ to provide intelligence and to send Hanoi 
"a message of American resolve." On 6 June, a naval 
reconnaissance aircraft was shot down over the PDJ. As the 
military services lacked a search-and-rescue capability in Laos, 
Air America undertook the responsibility.  


The unsuccessful attempt to rescue Lt. Charles K. Klusmann-who 
later escaped from his captors-marked the beginning of what was 
perhaps the most demanding and hazardous of Air America's 
operations in Laos. The airline's pilots were neither trained 
nor properly equipped for the dangerous search-and-rescue task, 
but there was no one else to do the job. This mission became 
even more difficult during the first half of 1965, when the air 
war expanded into the northwestern portion of North Vietnam.  


As Air America crews in helicopters, transports, and T-28s 
risked their lives to save downed US airmen, rumors grew that 
the civilian pilots were receiving a bounty of $1,500 for each 
rescue. This story apparently originated with a US Air Force 
captain in the air attache's office in Vientiane. Charged with 
briefing military pilots on rescue capabilities in Laos, he 
visited Air Force bases and US Navy carriers, spreading the word 
that airmen who were shot down over Laos did not have to worry 
about being picked up: Air America's pilots would be there to 
get them out, competing for the $1,500 bonus.  


When the story reached Air America, it created a good deal of 
resentment. In June 1965, after an especially hazardous long-
range mission into North Vietnam in which two helicopters were 
badly shot up and a local Lao commander killed in what turned 
out to be a successful rescue of two Air Force officers from a 
downed F-4C, one of the Air America helicopter pilots wrote: 
"The AF doesn't, I'm sure, appreciate what we are doing for them 
at great risk to ourselves; What makes us mad is that the AF 
thinks we get $1,500 for a pickup. We get nothing-but ulcers."  


Not Very Secret  







The year 1965 marked the beginning of major military activity in 
what became known as the secret war in Laos. Although the full 
extend of the conflict was not revealed to the American people 
until 1969-70, the war was not all that secret. News of the 
fighting frequently found its way into the pages of The Bangkok 
Post, The New York Times, and other newspapers. Congress 
certainly was kept well informed. As former CIA Director Richard 
Helms has pointed out, the Appropriations Subcommittees that 
provided the funds for the war were briefed regularly. Also, 
Senator Stuart Symington and other Congressmen visited Laos and 
gave every indication of approving what was happening. They 
believed, Helms noted, that "It was a much cheaper and better 
way to fight a war in Southeast Asia than to commit American 
troops." The CIA was largely responsible for conducting military 
operations in Laos, but the US Ambassador was the man in charge. 
The secret war in Laos, author Charles Stevenson has emphasized, 
"was William Sullivan's war." Ambassador from December 1964 to 
March 1969, Sullivan insisted on an efficient, closely 
controlled country team. "There wasn't a bag of rice dropped in 
Laos that he didn't know about," observed Assistant Secretary of 
State William Bundy. Sullivan imposed two conditions upon his 
subordinates. First, the thin fiction of the Geneva accords had 
to be maintained to avoid possible embarrassment to the Lao and 
Soviet Governments; military operations, therefore, had to be 
carried out in relative secrecy. Second, no regular US ground 
troops were to become involved. In general, Ambassador Sullivan, 
and his successor, G. McMurtrie Godley, successfully carried out 
this policy.  


Activity at Udorn  


The Ambassador in Vientiane delegated responsibility for the 
tactical conduct of the war to his CIA station chief. The 
primary headquarters for supervising the war, however, was in 
Udorn, Thailand. Located adjacent to the Air America parking 
ramp at Udorn Royal Thai Air Force Base and the 4802nd until the 
summer of 1968, when he was replaced by his longtime deputy, 
Lloyd ("Pat") Landry.  


Both Lair and Landry had excellent rapport with Gen. Vitoon 
Yasawatdi, commander of "Headquarters 333" Udorn, the Thai 
organization in charge of their forces in Laos. The Thai 
general, who had direct, private access to both the Lao and Thai 
Prime ministers, had been identified by one senior CIA officer 
as "the single-most-important player in the Laos program.  


Weather and the War  







The early years of the war took on a seasonal aspect. During the 
dry period, which lasted from October to May, the North 
Vietnamese and Pathet Lao went on the offensive applying 
pressure on the Hmong in northern Laos and on government forces 
throughout the country. During the monsoon, lasting from June to 
September, the anti-Communists took advantage of the mobility 
provided by Air America and struck deep into enemy-occupied 
territory. The situation was a mirror image of Vietnam. In Laos, 
the Communists acted as a conventional military force and were 
tied to fixed supply lines. The Hmong, at least at first, 
countered with guerrilla tactics.  


The limited nature of the war was reflected in the modest 
losses-at least modest in comparison to what was ahead-suffered 
by Air America during 1965, 1966 and 1967. Despite a rapid 
growth in personnel, Air America lost only 11 crewmembers in 
Laos during these three years, five of which were due to the 
enemy action.  


North Vietnamese Pressure  


The character of the war began to change in 1968. The North 
Vietnamese, impatient with the progress of the Pathet Lao, 
introduced major new combat forces into Laos and took control of 
the year's dry season offensive. By mid-March, they had captured 
a strategic valley north of Luang Prabang, successfully 
assaulted a key navigational facility that was used by the US 
Air Force for bombing North Vietnam, and threatened to push the 
Hmong out of their mountaintop strongholds surrounding the PDJ.  


On 21 March 1968, CIA Headquarters issued a Special National 
Intelligence Estimate (SNIE) to top level policymakers in 
Washington on Communist Intentions in Laos. Despite the presence 
of 35,000 NVA troops in the country, CIA analysis concluded that 
Hanoi was mainly interested in protecting its supply routes to 
South Vietnam and did not wish to destroy the general framework 
of the 1962 Geneva settlement.  


Events soon proved the SNIE to be correct. The NVA offensive 
ended with the onset of the monsoon in May. The Hmong, however, 
had suffered heavy causalities, losing more than 1,000 men since 
January, including many top commanders. A recruitment drive 
turned up only 300 replacements: 30 percent were between the 
ages of 10 and 14, 30 percent were 15 and 16, while the 
remaining 40 percent were all over 35. According to "Pop" Buell, 
those between those ages were all dead.  







Offensive and Counteroffensive  


As the strength of the Hmong waned, the United States tried to 
redress the growing imbalance of forces in the field through 
increased use of airpower. Between 1965 and 1968, the rate of 
sorties in Laos had remained fairly constant at 10 to 20 a day. 
In 1969, Vang Pao abandoned the use of guerrilla tactics and 
launched a major offensive against the NVA/Pathet Lao forces, 
using the increased airpower to support a drive against enemy 
positions on the PDJ. Operation About Face was a huge success. 
The Hmong reclaimed the entire PDJ for the first time since 
1960, capturing 1,700 tons of food, 2,500 tons of ammunition, 
640 heavy weapons, and 25 Soviet PT-76 tanks.  


But the victory was short-lived. In January 1970, the NVA 
brought in two divisions that quickly regained all the lost 
ground and threatened the major Hmong base at Long Tieng. For 
the first time, B-52s were used to blunt the enemy drive.  


NVA strength in Laos had reached 67,000 men, but CIA analysis 
continued to argue that the enemy did not want to risk a 
decisive action. "The Communists believe that when they obtain 
their objectives in South Vietnam," The CIA's Office of National 
Estimates predicted in April 1970, "Laos will fall into their 
hands."  


Losing Ground  


The monsoon season of 1971 saw the last major offensive 
operations by the Hmong, now assisted by growing numbers of Thai 
volunteer battalions, trained and paid by the CIA. Vang Pao 
again captured the PDJ in July and established a network of 
artillery strongpoints, manned by Thai gunners. Vang Pao's hope 
of retaining the PDJ during the dry season proved abortive. In 
December 1971, the North Vietnamese launched a coordinated 
assault against the artillery; the NVA quickly recaptured the 
PDJ.  


The last days of 1971 and early months of 1972 saw increased 
enemy pressure on the main Hmong base at Long Tieng. Air America 
suffered heavy losses during this period. In December alone, 24 
aircraft were hit by ground fire and three were shot down. 
Between December and April, six Air America crewmembers died in 
Laos.  


The war also went badly in southern Laos, where the CIA 
recruited, trained, advised, and paid indigenous personnel that 







were organized into Special Guerrilla Units. Heavy fighting took 
place in 1971 for control of the strategic Bolovens Plateau, 
with Air America providing the essential air transport for the 
CIA-led forces. By the end of the year, however, the NVA clearly 
held the upper hand following the capture of Paksong, 25 miles 
east of the Mekong River town of Pakse, on 28 December.  


On 24 April 1972, Air America's Vice President for flight 
operations sent a telex message addressed to all crewmembers. 
Noting that "the past few months have produced an appalling toll 
in lives and serious injuries," he urged all flight crews and 
supervisors to reappraise the factors "which make flying in our 
operations a particularly unforgiving profession. We are called 
upon to perform under possibly the most difficult environmental 
conditions in the world considering the combination of remote, 
mountainous terrain, absence of modern 
navigational/communications and air traffic control facilities, 
active presence of hostile armed forces, absence of adequate 
means of reporting and forecasting the varied seasonal weather 
and winds, and marginal airfields and landing zones, to name a 
few examples." Everyone, he warned, should exercise extreme 
caution when conducting flight operations in Laos."  


Closing Down  


At the same time that Air America crews were being reminded 
about the hazardous nature of operations in Laos, DCI Helms was 
deciding the fate of the air proprietary. On 21 April 1972, he 
ended a lengthy debate within the CIA over the continued need 
for a covert airlift capability, and he ordered the Agency to 
divest itself of ownership and control of Air America and 
related companies. Air America would be retained only until the 
end of the war in Southeast Asia.  


On 27 January 1973, the Paris agreement on Vietnam was 
concluded, providing for the withdrawal of American troops. The 
following month, a cease-fire agreement was signed in Vientiane, 
leading to the formation of a coalition government for Laos. 
Although the end of the war was clearly in sight, Air America 
continued to lose people. Indeed, it is somewhat ironic that Air 
America suffered its heaviest losses in the two years following 
the CIA's decision to terminate the company. Between April 1972, 
when Helms issued his orders, and June 1974, when Air America 
left the country, 23 crewmembers died in flight operations in 
Laos.  







On 3 June 1974, the last Air America aircraft crossed the border 
from Laos into Thailand. The end went well, Air America's 
operations office in Vientiane informed Washington" and the 
departure of AAM from Laos was without incident, although some 
lumps were visible in the throats of those who put so much of 
themselves into the operation over the years; We grieve for 
those missing and dead in Laos and regret that they too could 
not have enjoyed today." In all, 100 Air America personnel had 
died in Laos.  


The base at Udorn shut down at the end of June. Operations in 
Vietnam continued until the fall of Saigon in April 1975. When 
plans for a new stay behind company in Thailand, staffed by a 
contingent of select helicopter and transport pilots fell 
through, all Air America personnel were discharged. The company 
finally closed its doors on 30 June 1976,               
returning over $20 million to the US Treasury.           


A Distinguished Record  


CAT/Air America performed superbly for the CIA. The skilled 
aircrews and ground personnel of the air proprietary had given 
CIA the air transport capability that it required for a variety 
of covert operations in Asia. Although the air complex had 
caused legal problems for the CIA's Directorate of 
Administration, there is no question that personnel in the 
Directorate of Operations considered CAT/Air America as an 
essential tool for their work.  


During the war in Laos, Air America was called upon to perform 
paramilitary tasks at great risks to the aircrews involved. 
Although lacking the discipline found in a military 
organization, the personnel for the air proprietary nonetheless 
continued to place their lives at hazard for years. Some Air 
America pilots flew in Laos for more than a decade, braving 
enemy fire and surmounting challenging operational conditions 
with rare skill and determination. As pointed out by a senior 
Agency official during the dedication of a plaque to Air America 
personnel at CIA Headquarters in May 1988: "The aircrew, 
maintenance, and other professional aviation skills they applied 
on our behalf were extraordinary. But, above all, they brought a 
dedication to our mission and the highest standards of personal 
courage in the conduct of that mission 


IN MEMORIAM 


   







This memorial is dedicated to the air crews and ground support 
personnel of Civil Air Transport, Air America, Air Asia, and 
Southern Air Transport, who died while serving the cause of 
freedom in Asia from 1947 to 1975 


"To everything there is a Season, and a time to every purpose under 
the Heaven ... A time to be Born and a time to Die ... A time of War 
and a time of Peace ..." Ecclesiastes, 3: 1,2,3 


                                                                                           
Founded by General Claire L. Chennault and Whiting Willauer                                        


 


 


  Robert P. Abrams 25 Oct. 64 


  James H. Ackley MIA 


  Rizal S. J. Alamares 13 Nov. 65 


  Alfredo J. Alor 19 May 72 


  Harry W. Arnott 15 May 55 


  Prinya Ashavanond 1 Oct. 67 


  Timoteo Bagnot 8 Mar 69 


  Howland D. Baker 12 Sept. 64 
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  John M. Bannerman 23 Nov. 72 


  Paul C. Barrow 15 Apr 67 


  GABRIEL J BATAVIA 14 Jan 53 


  Nai Bay 4 Oct. 63 


  William H. Beale, Jr. 6 Apr. 62 


  John W. Beardsley 10 Mar. 70 


  Wallace H. Bell 13 Oct. 62 


  Edmund J. Benkert 28 Nov. 64 


  David W. Bevan 13 Aug. 61 


  Roelf Bijl 17 Nov. 67 


  JAMES ROBERT BLACK 7 Jan 74 


  ROBERT ELLSWORTH BLEVENS July 65 


  Gerald A. Booth 17 July 69 


  Howard H. Boyles, Jr. MIA 


  Earle E. Bruce, Jr. 8 Aug. 67 


  Wallace Buford 6 May 54 


  Lawrence R. Buol 26 May 56 


  William P. Cagney 26 July 62 


  Antonio C. Calderon 17 June 67 


    James C. Campbell 18 June 68 


  


Richard C. Case  


Reynaldo Castillo 


4 April 75  


8 Sept. 72 


  Pablo C. Castro 12 Mar. 63 







  Jack W. Cavill MIA 


  Montano L. Centeno 17 July 69 


  Prasit Chaichana 9 Feb. 73 


  W.K. Chan 29 July 48 


  Ampol Chan-Aium 24 Dec 67 


  W.H. "Jimmy" Chang 9 Dec. 50 


  Yung-Kung Chang 20 June 64 


  Johnny Y.H. Chang 14 Jan. 66 


  Banching Chanluachai 11 June 71 


  K.V. Chen 8 Nov. 49 


  N.C. Chen 20 June 64 


  C.K. Chen 20 June 64 


  H.S. Chen 20 June 64 


  Ching-Ching Chen 20 June 64 


  Vivian Chen 16 Feb. 68 


  YAO-ZIANG CHEN  20 Oct 54 


  Joseph C. Cheney 5 Sept. 63 


  Chudchai Chewcherngsuk MIA 


  Suthi Chimpaibul 23 Nov. 72 


  Duong Chinh 20 Mar. 68 


  H.G. Cho 20 June 64 


  H.Y. Choi 20 June 64 


  C.C. Chou 20 June 64 







  Herbert W. Clark 2 June 71 


  Terry D. Clark 7 Apr. 73 


  Kevin N. Cochrane 10 Apr. 70 


  Benjamin F. Coleman 25 July 72 


  John J. Cooney 8 Aug. 67 


  Romeo B. Crisologo 9 Apr. 66 


  Robert N. Crone 12 Feb. 69 


  Ernesto M. Cruz 10 Jan. 71 


  Cecelio Daque 14 Jan 73 


  Ralph S. Davis 19 Aug. 69 


  Eugene H. DeBruin MIA 


  Victor Dejamco 20 Apr. 66 


  Gerald L. Delong 10 Apr. 70 


  Rafael A. DeVera 24 July 64 


  Charles T. Dieffenbach 22 July 62 


  Reggie Dimaculangan 22 Dec 67 


  Carlos Dominguez 30 Mar. 71 


  Clarence N. Driver MIA 


  Jean H. Dubuque 16 July 60 


  Bernardo L. Dychitan 7 Dec. 68 


  Wayne W. Ensminger 6 Mar 66 


  Darrel A. Eubanks 13 Aug 61 


  Frank Farthing 11 Jan 67 







  Robert O. Finney 2 Dec. 72 


  Norwood N. Forte 13 Aug. 61 


  Benjamin A. Franklin 21 Mar. 71 


  William J. Fraser 7 Dec. 68 


  APOLINARIO S. GERARDO 16 Mar 69 


  Vincente B. Gaza MIA 


  William J. Gibbs 13 May 69 


  Norman A. Grammer 14 Aug. 69 


  John T. Grover 25 July 72 


  Joel Gudahl 27 Aug. 72 


  Nguyen Van Hanh 16 Jan. 69 


  Y.S. Har 29 July 48 


  Truett H. Harper 6 Mar. 70 


  Robert Hartl 28 Apr. 72 


  Howard F. Heinrich 4 Feb. 62 


  Robert Heising 9 Dec. 50 


  Donald C. Heritage 27 Nov. 62 


  Charles G. Herrick 5 Sept. 63 


  Billy K. Hester 10 Apr. 70 


  Fu-Shyong Ho 13 Sept. 67 


  Emmons B. Hodgkins, Jr. 25 Nov. 68 


  Paul Holden 7 June 67 


  D. M. Hoskins 18 June 72 







  Kenneth A. Houp 17 Mar. 71 


  Jack T. Houston 5 Dec. 67 


  Tsuan-Ho Hsieh 27 Dec. 63 


  T. H. Hu 20 June 64 


  Quang-Huang Du 11 July 64 


  Hua Ming Huang 16 Oct. 68 


  Trong Lien Huynh 12 Aug. 71 


  Alfredo Joco 31 July 66 


  Norman R. Jones 8 Nov. 49 


  Charles D. Jones 5 Mar. 65 


  K.C. Kan 20 June 64 


  YAO-CHUNG KAN 20 Oct 54 


  Niram Kasorphon 3 July 73 


  Howard W. Kelly 16 Jan 69 


  Thongkham Khammanephet 27 Aug. 72 


  Souphang Khamphanh 2 Mar. 69 


  Thanom Khanthaphengxay 25 July 72 


  Paul Y.H. King 16 Feb. 68 


  George Kirkland 22 July 73 


  PHILLIP RICHARD KNOKE UNK 


  Mu-Shuen Kung 20 June 64 


  Manu Latloi 18 Apr. 74 


  Thi Mau Le 5 Sept. 65 







  Xuan Duc Le 19 Oct. 67 


  Hsu-Chiu Lee 4 Feb. 62 


  Z.T. Lee 17 Aug. 63 


  C.Y. Lee 20 June 64 


  Ruby Lee 20 June 64 


  Robert E. Lee 5 May 68 


  V.L. Lee, Jr. 27 July 74 


  Arthur Leonard 1 Dec. 69 


  John S. Lewis 13 Aug. 61 


  Richard H. Lieberth 12 Oct. 65 


  Benji Lin 20 June 64 


  Herbert Liu 27 Dec. 63 


  Nicholas B. Loss 11 Dec. 67 


  Justin G. Mahony 27 Sept. 65 


  Feliciano C. Manalo 16 July 72 


  Abdul H. Marecar 6 Dec. 72 


  Bruce C. Massey 23 Mar. 67 


  Charles H. Mateer 30 May 61 


  Milton N. Matheson 16 Jan. 69 


  L.T. Mau 5 Apr. 69 


  Patrick F. McCarthy 7 Dec. 68 


  Charles J. McCarthy 23 Nov. 72 


  James B. McGovern 6 May 54 







  Roger B. McKean 10 Apr. 70 


  William L. Meek 31 Dec. 73 


  Jon Christian Merkel 18 Feb. 70 


  Charuk Milindre 17 July 63 


  Robert S. Moore 3 Dec. 72 


  Vincent Morales 1 July 68 


  Harry E. Mulholland 29 Apr. 71 


  Jon Charles Murray 25 Nov. 68 


  Thomas J. Murray 4 Mar. 69 


  Frank Muscal 3 Oct. 65 


  Caferino B. Nabung 11 Jan. 61 


  Kenekeo Narissack MIA 


  Gideon A. Newton 17 July 63 


  Edward Norwich 19 July 49 


  Charles L. Osterman 7 Apr. 73 


  Norman M. Owens 22 Oct. 67 


  John L. Oyer 27 Sept. 65 


  Cornelio N. Pascual 18 Aug. 64 


  W.A. Peng MIA 


  Phanomphom Phochan 24 Dec. 67 


  Hua Khan Phuoc 31 Dec. 66 


  Nguyen Thi Phuoc 5 Apr. 69 


  Lowell Z. Pirkle 3 Aug. 67 







  Lester M. Porter 25 Nov. 68 


  Harvey B. Potter 2 Mar. 70 


  Billy P. Pratt 22 Sept. 71 


  Prasit Promsuwan MIA 


  Gerald I. Prudhomme 17 July 63 


  William R. Pruner 14 Jan. 66 


  Lloyd K. Randell 24 Apr. 72 


  James A. Rasmussen 18 Feb. 62 


  Kosoom Ratanakosoom 24 Dec. 67 


  James E. Rausch 12 June 72 


  William E. Reeves 27 Aug. 72 


  Baltazar Reyes 25 Nov. 68 


  Frederick J. Riley 27 Nov. 62 


  George L. Ritter MIA 


  Huey D. Rogers 10 Apr. 70 


  Valeriano R. Rosales 7 Apr. 73 


  Boonrang Samburan 17 Feb. 72 


  Albert Sandoval 24 Aug 64 


  Roger J. Sarno 13 Aug. 61 


  Meiko Sase 11 Apr. 69 


  Praves Satarakij 27 Aug. 72 


  Khamphonh Saysongkham MIA 


  Alexander Scandalis 5 July 65 







  Norman A. Schwartz 3 Dec. 52 


  Welcome A. Scott 30 Sept. 60 


  Pratheep Sermsakul 11 Oct. 71 


  K.H. Shia 20 June 64 


  K.H. Shih 20 June 64 


  Buncha Sirisapya 4 July 69 


  Milton E. Smart 10 Apr. 70 


  Franklin D. Smith 12 Oct. 65 


  Thomas C. Smith 22 Feb. 69 


  Wilson P. Smith 15 Mar. 73 


  Robert C. Snoddy 3 Dec. 52 


  Louis B. Soha 9 Oct. 56 


  B. Somchai 23 Nov. 72 


  R. Somphone 16 Feb. 66 


  Khamouth Sousadalay 4 Feb. 72 


  Sampas Sreesuraj 6 Jan. 68 


  Somboon Sripa 6 Jan. 68 


  Herbert S. Strouss 4 Feb. 62 


  William J. Sullivan 12 Apr. 62 


  Eduardo T. Sunga 26 Nov. 68 


  Betty Tang 16 Feb. 68 


  Narong Tantilohakul 17 July 63 


  Clyde T. Tarbet 29 July 48 







  James Tate 26 June 67 


  Nguyen Van Thai 14 Jan. 66 


  Prasidhi Thanee MIA 


  Frank G. Thorsen 31 July 73 


  Trikit Thuttanon 2 June 71 


  Yik Chiu To MIA 


  S.L. (Eddie) Tong 26 Nov. 60 


  Nit Tongkorn 24 Dec. 67 


  Jaime Torres 19 Mar. 67 


  Vichit Tovira 18 June 68 


  Roy F. Townley MIA 


  Earl Trager 7 Dec. 69 


  T.B. Trai 22 Jan. 69 


  Leon M. Tucker 21 Sept. 66 


  B.Y. Van 20 June 64 


  T.U. Van 28 Aug. 72 


  George A. Varney 6 Apr. 62 


  George A. Verdon 17 July 63 


  LUC KIEN VINH 20 Jun 67 


  Boumy Vongachak 28 Dec. 70 


  S.C. Wang 2 June 71 


  Arnold Weir 1 Apr. 49 


  Edward J. Weissenbach MIA 







  


  


 
 


 


  T.W. Wen 9 Dec. 50 


  H.C. Weng 20 June 64 


  Leonard I. Wiehrdt 8 Apr. 72 


  John W. Wilmot, Jr. 19 May 66 


  Walter L. Wizbowski 30 May 61 


  K.S. Wong 26 Nov. 60 


  Glen R. Woods 14 Aug. 69 


  Aubrey A. Wooten 17 July 63 


  Morimitsu Yazima 20 June 62 


  C. Yothipana 22 July 66 


  L.S. Yu 27 Dec. 63 


  Chaveng Yuphaphin 25 Nov. 68 





Peter C Dempsey
File Attachment
History of the CIA AIR OPERATIONS.pdf


